

Quality Accounts toolkit 2010/11

Advisory guidance for providers of NHS services producing Quality Accounts for the year 2010/11



© Crown copyright 2010 First published December 2010 Published to DH website, in electronic PDF format only. <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/publications</u>

Policy	Estates		
HR / Workforce	Commissioning		
Management	IM & T		
Planning /	Finance		
Benica hance	Social Care / Partnership Working		
Document Purpose	Best Practice Guidance		
Gateway Reference	15119		
Title	Quality Accounts Toolkit 2010-11		
Author	Deapartment of Health		
Publication Date	07 Dec 2010		
Target Audience	PCT CEs, NHS Trust CEs, SHA CEs, Foundation Trust CEs , Medical Directors, PCT Chairs, NHS Trust Board Chairs, GPs		
Circulation List	PCT CEs, NHS Trust CEs, SHA CEs, Foundation Trust CEs , Medical Directors, PCT Chairs, NHS Trust Board Chairs, GPs		
Description	The Quality Accounts toolkit is best practice advisory guidance for providers o NHS services to make use of during the production and publication of Quality Accounts in 2010.		
Cross Ref			
Superseded Docs	Quality Accounts Toolkit 2009 - 10		
Action Required			
Timing			
Contact Details	Neil Townley Quality Accounts Department of Health Skipton House, 80 London Road SE1 6LH 0207 972 5209		
For Recipient's Use	www.dh.gov.uk/qualityaccounts		

Contents

Introduction	5
1 Purpose of the toolkit	7
2 Executive summary	8
3 Quality Accounts- what are they and what are they for?	. 12
4 What might a Quality Account look like?	. 19
5 Who should decide what goes into a Quality Account? – Identifying your local improvement priorities	
6 Making sense of information – reviewing and presenting data	. 48
7 Quality management systems – embedding quality in your organisation and showing this in your Quality Account	. 61
8 How should Quality Accounts be published?	. 73
9 Trust and assurance– who is responsible for assuring the Quality Account	77
10 What next? Evaluating and moving forward	. 81
11 Useful resources	. 84
12 Acknowledgements	. 86
Annex A:further guidance on the NHS (Quality Accounts) regulations 2010	. 87
Annex B: Glossary	. 93

Introduction

A joint letter from Professor Sir Bruce Keogh, NHS Medical Director and David Bennett, Chief Executive of Monitor, has been sent to all Chief Executives, setting out the future plans for Quality Accounts and our expectations for Quality Accounts this year.

The letter was launched alongside this Toolkit and is available at, <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Healthcare/Qualityaccounts/index.htm</u>



Quality Accounts film

In June 2009, Norfolk and Waveney Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust was among the first to produce a quality report, as part of the testing process for Quality Accounts led by Monitor and NHS East of England. A film is available, charting their approach to the development of their report, and offering thoughts on the benefits, challenges and outcomes of undertaking the process, as they work to improve the quality of services. You can view the film by visiting www.dh.gov.uk/qualityaccounts.

1 Purpose of the toolkit

- 1.1 This toolkit is aimed at providers of NHS services, in order to offer advice as they set out to produce their Quality Accounts for June 2011. It seeks to consolidate the understanding of the purpose of Quality Accounts and to guide their production based on what the public, NHS staff and other interested parties have said during the national engagement and testing processes.
- 1.2 Other stakeholders(including governors of Foundation Trusts) who have a role in contributing to, and commenting on, Quality Accounts will also find this useful.
- 1.3 A Quality Account consists of three separate parts. Parts 1 and 2 are set out in regulations, and this document refers to these requirements. Part 3 is where you (the NHS provider) have the opportunity to make the Quality Accounts most meaningful to your reader, with information relevant to your particular services, based on discussions with service users, staff and others with an interest. This toolkit explores some of the information you may wish to consider including in part 3.
- 1.4 Quality improvement is an ongoing cycle and organisations are continually updating and adapting their plans and priorities to reflect their particular needs and experiences. So too will the nature of Quality Accounts evolve, and we envisage that, over time, this toolkit will become a mechanism for sharing best practice between organisations, and will be driven by local experiences, both of those producing and of those using the Accounts.

2 Executive summary

Quality Accounts – what are they and what are they for?

- 2.1 Quality Accounts are annual reports to the public from providers of NHS healthcare about the quality of services they deliver. The primary purpose of Quality Accounts is to encourage boards and leaders of healthcare organisations to assess quality across all of the healthcare services they offer. It allows leaders, clinicians, governors and staff to demonstrate their commitment to continuous, evidence-based quality improvement, and to explain their progress to the public.
- 2.2 By putting information about the quality of services in your organisation into the public domain you are offering your approach to quality up for scrutiny, debate and reflection. Quality Accounts should assure commissioners, patients and the public that healthcare providers are regularly scrutinising each and every one of their services, concentrating on those that need the most attention.
- 2.3 "*Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS*"¹ committed the Department to: reinforce local accountability for performance, encourage peer competition, and provide a clear spur for boards of provider organisations to focus on improving outcomes. In the White Paper the Government also committed to support all NHS trusts to become or be part of a Foundation Trust within the next three years.
- 2.4 All providers of NHS services, no matter how large or small, or what services they provide, should be striving to achieve high quality care for all and, therefore, all are required to produce a Quality Account as set out in the Health Act 2009 and supporting regulations. However, a phased introduction to the requirement will be adopted, community providers will be introduced this year (2010-11), while primary care providers will be encouraged to take part in further testing this year, with formal requirements introduced in 2011-12, following evaluation.

What might a Quality Account look like?

- 2.5 Some parts of a Quality Account are mandatory and set out in regulations. We expect most of the content to be determined locally.
- 2.6 In order to engage leaders of your organisation fully in your particular quality improvement agenda, and to reflect the views and needs of your local population and service users, the approach to improvement needs to be owned and individual to your organisation. You should, therefore, determine locally the majority of your Quality Account, which should present an honest picture of what you deliver and what your improvement plans are. However, in order to provide some consistency between

¹http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidanc e/DH_117353

provider reports, and to provide assurance that your organisation is meeting essential standards and is involved in cross-cutting initiatives that aim to drive up quality improvement, a series of statements from the Board are required as part of the regulations.

- 2.7 A Quality Account must include:
 - a statement from the Board (or equivalent) of your organisation summarising the quality of NHS services provided;
 - your organisation's priorities for quality improvement for the coming financial year;
 - a series of statements from the Board for which the format and information required is set out in regulations; and
 - a review of the quality of services in your organisation. You might like to think about expressing this in terms of the three domains of quality: patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.

Who should decide what goes into a Quality Account? Identifying your local improvement priorities

2.8 The Board (or equivalent) of your organisation is ultimately responsible for the delivery of services and the quality of the information presented in your Quality Account (meeting both the regulatory requirements and the expectations of stakeholders). However, the process involved in designing your quality improvement plans, and the content of the Quality Account as a bi-product of this, should be produced by true involvement and engagement of all with an interest in your organisation, including users of your services (and organisations in the community who advocate for them).

Making sense of information – reviewing and presenting data

2.9 Quality Accounts are public documents, and while their audience is wide ranging (clinicians, staff, commissioners, patients and their carers, academics, regulators etc.), your Quality Account should aim to present information in a way that is accessible for all. Data presentation should be simple and in a consistent format. Information should provide a balance between positive information and acknowledgement of areas that need improvement. Use of both qualitative and quantitative data will help to present a rounded picture and the use of data, information or case studies relevant to your local community will help make your Quality Account meaningful to its reader.

Quality management systems – embedding quality in your organisation and showing this in your Quality Account

2.10 Quality Accounts offer a commitment to improve quality of services, but in order to make this commitment, you need to know not only what needs improving but also how this can be achieved. Ensure that you are clear about the quality of care you are delivering, how you are delivering this, what needs to improve and how this needs to be done.

How should Quality Accounts be published?

2.11 Quality Accounts will be published electronically on the NHS Choices website and you must make hard copies of the previous two years' Quality Accounts available on request. You should also consider making them available in other formats or different community languages where there is an expressed need to do so. In addition to the publication on NHS Choices, you may also choose to publish this via your own communications channels, such as your organisation's website.

Trust and assurance – who is responsible for assuring the Quality Account?

- 2.12 Quality Accounts are not marketing documents, but a chance to enter into a real, open and honest dialogue with the public regarding the quality of care in your organisation.
- 2.13 Assurance is therefore required to ensure trust in the Quality Account, that the information presented is accurate and fairly interpreted, and that the range of services described and priorities for improvement are representative of the services you deliver.
- 2.14 The Board (or equivalent) is accountable for your Quality Account and, therefore, they must assure themselves and then state publicly within the document that the information presented is accurate.
- 2.15 To provide further assurance, your lead primary care trust (PCT), Local Involvement Network (LINk) and overview and scrutiny committee (OSC) must all be offered the opportunity to comment on your report ahead of publication, and a statement, if offered, must be presented in the Quality Account.
- 2.16 For providers whose services cover a region, or with significant activity in more than one PCT (e.g. ambulance trusts), an option to consider is to seek the views of all PCTs, LINks and OSCs involved not just the lead one. Although the lead PCT might well take on the role of coordinating a joint response, that might not apply to LINks and OSCs.
- 2.17 In the White Paper "Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS" the Government committed to continue to strengthen the independent assurance of Quality Accounts to ensure the content is accurate and fair. The National Quality Board has commissioned a piece of work involving the Department of Health and Monitor to consult upon and develop a form of third-party assurance of Quality Accounts. Monitor has begun an evaluation project of the dry run undertaken in 2009-10 to allow them to refine the proposals for 2010-11. Following the evaluation, Monitor will refine the scope of the external audit work for the Foundation Trust's 2010-11 Quality Accounts and determine the timeframe for published external audit opinions. An announcement on the arrangements for non FTs will be made following the evaluation of the pilot hopefully early in the New Year. This toolkit, as well as any amendments to regulations will be updated to reflect any new requirements in advance of their introduction.

What next? Evaluating and moving forward

2.18 It is important that both the Quality Accounts and the wider improvement agenda are continually reviewed, built upon and improved for the future.

2.19 We will continue to work with stakeholders to review the effectiveness of Quality Accounts and how they sit in an NHS as described by the White Paper, *Equity and Excellence.* Work will continue on third party assurance and developing Quality Accounts for primary care.

3 Quality Accounts- what are they and what are they for?

Quality Accounts:

- aim to improve organisational accountability to the public and engage boards (or their equivalents) in the quality improvement agenda for your organisation.
- enable you, the provider, to review your services, decide and show where you are doing well, but also where improvement is required;
- enable you to demonstrate what improvements you plan to make;
- provide information on the quality of your services to patients and the public; and
- demonstrate how you involve and respond to feedback from patients and the public, as well as other stakeholders (including governors of Foundation Trusts).
- 3.1 Quality Accounts are annual reports to the public from providers of NHS healthcare about the quality of services they deliver. The primary purpose of Quality Accounts is to encourage boards and leaders of healthcare organisations to assess quality across all of the healthcare services they offer. It allows leaders, clinicians, governors and staff to demonstrate their commitment to continuous, evidence-based quality improvement, and to explain their progress to the public.
- 3.2 Quality Accounts should assure commissioners, patients and the public that healthcare providers are regularly scrutinising each and every one of their services, concentrating on those that need the most attention.
- 3.3 "*Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS*"² committed the Department to: reinforce local accountability for performance, encourage peer competition, and provide a clear spur for boards of provider organisations to focus on improving outcomes. In the White Paper the Government also committed to support all NHS trusts to become or be part of a Foundation Trust within the next three years.
- 3.4 The direction of travel that was set out in the White Paper "*Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS*", and in subsequent consultations on an outcomes framework for the NHS and on proposals for an information revolution, makes clear the importance of information in delivering safe, high-quality, people-centred care. Quality Accounts are not primarily a data source for patient choice, but will help make this vision become a

²http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidanc e/DH_117353

reality by helping to ensure that you can supply reliable and assured information about your services. This is an opportunity for you to realise the vision of an open and transparent NHS, enabling you to build on the success of the FT governor model and become autonomous and locally, democratically accountable.

- 3.5 Quality Accounts are both retrospective and forward looking. They look back on the previous year's information regarding quality of services, explaining both what you are doing well and where improvement is needed. But, crucially, they also look forward, explaining what you have identified as your priorities for improvement over the coming financial year, and how you will achieve and measure these.
- 3.6 As Quality Accounts are annual reports, you would expect to see continuity between your accounts as time progresses. Organisations should reflect and report back on progress against priorities in future accounts. Where possible, providers should use indicators to demonstrate success in subsequent years.
- 3.7 Work to develop Quality Accounts to date showing the relationship between these elements is illustrated in the diagram below.



- 3.8 The content of a Quality Account should not be decided by the Board (or equivalent) alone. The information presented and the decisions taken on improvement as a result, need to be decided by involving all interested parties; for example, patients and their carers, including those from equality target groups; staff and clinical teams; commissioners and regulators.
- 3.9 Equally, the document should not be seen as a 'stand alone' project for your organisation to work towards. It is the process of reviewing and discussing quality with those who use your services or have an interest in your organisation, and subsequently putting improvement plans in place, which will deliver high quality care. Quality Accounts are a record of this work, and a commitment to achieve the improvements required.

Who should produce a Quality Account?

- 3.10 The Health Act 2009 requires all providers of healthcare services in England given under the auspices of the NHS to provide a Quality Account from April 2010. This includes private and third sector organisations contracted to provide NHS services. This will therefore give complete coverage of the requirement to produce Quality Accounts for NHS healthcare. The regulations provide more detail of the legal requirements including any exemptions to this requirement.
- 3.11 The requirement to publish a Quality Account only covers NHS healthcare services that is those NHS services (not social care) that have been commissioned by an SHA or PCT. A third sector organisation does not need to include healthcare services that are funded through, for example, charitable contributions or a Section 64 grant.
- 3.12 For the first year of Quality Accounts, all providers or sub-contractors of NHS services were required to produce a Quality Account but not in relation to the provision of primary care or community health services. Small providers were also exempted. For 2010-11 all providers or sub-contractors of NHS services are required to produce a Quality Account but not in relation to the provision of primary care³ or NHS continuing care.
- 3.13 The duty to provide a Quality Account also extends to non-NHS organisations that provide NHS care (for example, private hospitals), and this will ensure that patient accountability extends across care pathways. As the timescale for introduction are based on services provided, these organisations will mirror those of NHS organisations. For instance, an independent sector organisation providing acute, mental health, ambulance or learning disability services will be expected to produce an account.
- 3.14 The duty to publish a Quality Account falls on a body or person providing the NHS services. Therefore, multi-site organisations need only produce one Quality Account covering the quality of healthcare provided across your organisation. In order to make Quality Accounts more meaningful, it is suggested that large multi-site organisations provide site-specific data on the quality of healthcare services provided and ensure that your report covers the quality of healthcare across all of your sites.
- 3.15 Therefore, the requirement to publish a Quality Account only covers services:
 - that are NHS services, i.e. a PCT has commissioned them (if this is not the case, then for our purposes you are not providing NHS services, even if the patients are NHS patients, and you will not therefore need to publish a Quality Account);
 - **not** primary care services or NHS continuing care (the Regulations set out the definitions of these); and
 - your organisation is not a small provider (total income for the organisation from NHS services per annum is not more than £130,000 **and** you have less than 50 staff).

³ General practice, out of hours services, dentistry, pharmacy

Primary care and community services providers

- 3.16 The Quality Account Regulations currently exclude primary care and community services providers. In the White Paper "*Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS*" the Government committed, subject to evaluation, to extending Quality Accounts to all providers of NHS care from April 2011. Pilots for primary care and community services have been held in East Midlands and North East SHAs, while the East of England piloted community providers. Primary care and community services providers involved in the pilots produced Quality Accounts for 30 June. Providers included GPs, dentists, pharmacists, out of hours and community services providers. The results of the pilots show that:
 - providers agreed that the process of producing a Quality Account was useful for improving the quality of their organisation;
 - although the quality of final Quality Accounts was varied, generally they had been produced to a good standard,
 - GPs and larger community providers found the process of producing a Quality Account easier than dentists, pharmacists and out of hours providers; and
 - many providers struggled with the initial production, needing much assistance from PCTs and SHAs. This support enabled providers to produce Quality Accounts to a good standard.

Primary Care services

- 3.17 Continuing the testing of primary care this year will help us to find ways to overcome the problems highlighted by the pilots, maintain momentum, and allow us to identify ways of streamlining the process so that it does not create an undue burden for smaller providers.
- 3.18 We will therefore encourage and facilitate primary care organisations to produce Quality Accounts in June for the current year. We will work with Quality Observatories to see how they can support primary care providers this year and in the future. At present the intention is to make Quality Accounts a formal requirement from the following year (2011/12).

Community Services

- 3.19 Providers of community services in East of England, the North East and East Midlands successfully produced Quality Accounts this year, to the standard achieved by the acute sector. Community services are therefore capable of fulfilling the requirement this year. It is no longer necessary to exclude them, and significant and important services will be covered by bringing them into scope. This would bring in community providers offering services similar to the acute sector and allow those providers doing a mix of acute and community care to produce a comprehensive Quality Account.
- 3.20 We will explore how the Regulations will bring in these providers. The regulations will include an exemption for NHS continuing care.

- 3.21 Quality remains an ongoing high priority as PCTs separate commissioning from the provision of services and transition to divest community services from PCTs to be completed by April 2011. Organisations taking on the responsibility for providing community services post April 2011 will be required to publish a Quality Account as per the regulations, detailing the quality of community services in 2010-2011.
- 3.22 Organisations who provide a mix of acute and community services should aim to report on their acute and community services proportionately.
- 3.23 Information in this toolkit will be updated to reflect the introduction of primary care when this occurs.

			A . 1
	Primary care	Community Care	Acute sector
Winter/	Evaluation of	New Regulations	New Regulations and
Spring	test, consultation	and guidance	guidance for 2010-11
2010-11	on and		(including on new
	introduction of		assurance
	formal		mechanism);
	requirements		
Summer	Guidance for	First Quality	Second Quality
2011	providers	Accounts	Accounts published,
	Dry run Quality	published	with i) dry run of new
	Accounts		assurance mechanism
	published		for non-Foundation
			Trusts; ii) published
			assurance for
			Foundation Trusts
Summer	First Quality	Second Quality	Third Quality Accounts
2012	Accounts	Accounts	published, with new
	published	published	assurance mechanism

Proposed Timetable

Evaluation of 2009-10 Quality Accounts and lessons learned

3.24 The first Quality Accounts were published 30 June 2010, following publication the Department set about understanding how the process went in the first year, looking at what went well and what could be improved.

- 3.25 We have evaluated this year's publications, taking into account the views of providers, organisations that provided assurance^{4,} Primary Care Trusts (PCTs), Local Involvement Networks (LINks) and Oversight and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs). We have also done some work with SHAs, and independent reports have been produced by Health Mandate⁵ and the Kings Fund⁶ to bring a broader perspective to the exercise.
- 3.26 The vast majority of providers who produced a Quality Account this year felt they have been beneficial to their organisation. Providers commented that Quality Accounts had:
 - raised the profile of quality in the organisation;
 - engaged Boards, clinicians, staff and patients;
 - allowed providers to reflect on achievements and plan patient feedback;
 - focussed providers on key priorities; and
 - brought together all the various strands of work in relation to service improvement and quality.
- 3.27 There was much positive feedback from LINks, OSCs and PCTs regarding the providers' engagement with them.
- 3.28 Providers' main criticism was that they did not have enough time to engage staff and the public in the production of the Quality Account, as the final version of the requirements were not available until February. Some Foundation Trusts also complained about the timing of two sets of guidance on Quality Accounts, one from the Department of Health and one from Monitor. Monitor and the Department have worked together to make this consolidated guidance note for all providers.
- 3.29 Overall the lessons learnt to date are that:
 - Quality Accounts have been an effective tool for raising the profile of quality improvement and engaging Boards;
 - whilst almost all providers complied with the format required by the Regulations, the content, presentation and production methods varied widely;
 - this year's publications tended to have either a strong clinical focus, highly technical with little explanation for a wider public audience – or more of a patient focus with little hard evidence to back up marketing claims;

http://www.mhpc.com/sites/default/files/docs/Accounting%20for%20quality.pdf

⁴ <u>www.dh.gov.uk/qualityaccounts</u>

⁵ MHP Health Mandate, *Accounting for quality: an analysis of the impact of quality accounts in the NHS*, September 2010,

⁶ Publication expected in December, will be available from <u>www.kingsfund.org.uk</u>

• despite many good examples of wider engagement with patient, public and staff in the process of agreeing a Quality Account, some providers need to make significant improvements in this area.

Improvements for this year

- 3.30 Following evaluation, we have sought to improve Quality Accounts by:
 - setting expectations for this year's Quality Accounts in the letter from the NHS Medical Director and the Chief Executive of Monitor7;
 - issuing this guidance earlier in the year;
 - providing best practice examples from the 2009-10 Quality Accounts;
 - asked Quality Observatories to develop national and local indicators and asked PCTs to comment on suitability;
 - setting out a clear timetable for publication of Quality Accounts; and
 - improved the guidance and wording of mandated statements.

Quality Accounts and Quality Reports for Foundation Trusts

- 3.31 Monitor's annual reporting guidance requires NHS Foundation Trusts to include a report on the quality of care they provide within their annual report. NHS Foundation Trusts also have to publish a separate Quality Account each year, as required by the Health Act 2009, and in the terms set out in the Regulations. This Quality Account will then be uploaded onto NHS Choices.
- 3.32 Monitor's annual reporting guidance for the Quality Report incorporates the requirements set out in the Department of Health's Quality Accounts Regulations, as well as additional reporting requirements set by Monitor (See Chapter 4 and Monitor's website8).
- 3.33 NHS Foundation Trusts may therefore produce one account/report incorporating Monitor's additional reporting requirements that satisfies both the sets of requirements, for inclusion in their annual report and for uploading to NHS Choices. Equally, NHS Foundation Trusts may produce differing accounts and reports to satisfy each set of requirements, should they not wish Monitor's additional reporting requirements to be included in the Quality Account uploaded onto NHS Choices.
- 3.34 Monitor's Annual Reporting Manual will be published in March.

⁷ <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Healthcare/Qualityaccounts/index.htm</u>

⁸ http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/

4 What might a Quality Account look like?

Quality Accounts must cover the following:

Part1

• a statement on quality from the Chief Executive (or equivalent) of the organisation and a statement from the senior employee outlining that to the best of that person's knowledge the information in the document is accurate (in regulations);

Part2

- priorities for improvement (in regulations) the forward looking section of the report is your opportunity to show clearly your plans for quality improvement within your organisation and why you have chosen those priorities for improvement. You should also demonstrate how the organisation is developing quality improvement capacity and capability to deliver these priorities;
- statements relating to quality of NHS services provided (in regulations) content common to all providers which makes the accounts comparable between organisations and provides assurance that the Board has reviewed and engaged in cross-cutting initiatives which link strongly to quality improvement;

Part3

- **review of quality performance** (for provider determination) report on the previous year's quality performance offering the reader the opportunity to understand the quality of services in areas specific to your organisation;
- **an explanation of who you have involved** (for provider determination) and engaged with to determine the content and priorities contained in your Quality Account (in line with current equality legislation and the Health Act 2009); and
- **any statements provided from your commissioning PCT, LINks or OSCs** (in regulations) including an explanation of any changes you made to the final version of your Quality Account after receiving these statements.
- 4.1 The information contained in this chapter is advisory guidance intended to explain the purpose of the content and how you may make the most of the opportunities afforded by it.
- 4.2 The National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 can be found on the Office of Public Sector Information website: www.opsi.gov.uk and the further guidance to the regulations can be found at Annex A to this toolkit. We will be making minor amendments to the Regulations in order to fit with the revised guidance, please use the statements in the toolkit as a guide for the statements in order to prepare your draft Quality Account. The revised Regulations will be made in early 2011. Please see Annex A for clarity on where changes have been made from last year.
- 4.3 Quality Accounts need to reflect the quality improvement priorities of your organisation and your local community and therefore it is for you to decide, along with your

stakeholders and service users, what goes into the account and how it is presented. However, it is important to bear in mind the purpose of Quality Accounts when deciding what to include: the dual function of both telling where you are but also where you are going.



- 4.4 Although a Quality Account has the dual function of looking backwards and forwards, the narrative of a Quality Account should explain how the review of services has influenced the priorities for quality improvement.
- 4.5 Further information is provided below to explain each of the sections outlined at the beginning of the chapter.

Part 1: Statement on quality from the Chief Executive (or equivalent) of the organisation (in regulations)

4.6 It is stated in the regulations that your Quality Account should include:

Part 1, containing a statement summarising the provider's view of the quality of NHS services provided or sub-contracted by the provider during the reporting period

and

The relevant document must include a written statement, at the end of Part 1, signed by the responsible person for the provider that to the best of that person's knowledge the information in the document is accurate.

4.7 This statement will show that your organisation has a clear commitment to improving the quality of care.

- 4.8 The purpose of this statement is to ensure board approval that the Quality Account is accurate. This mirrors the sign-off given to a financial account, and represents your Board's (or equivalent's) own confirmation that they stand by the content of your report.
- 4.9 This also serves as an introduction to your account and to your organisation. It offers the opportunity for your organisation to set out a summary of its values, achievements and goals, which can then be explored further in the body of the account.
- 4.10 It is also an opportunity to explain what a Quality Account is and why it has been produced (see chapter 2).
- 4.11 Given that this is a summary of the quality of the organisation, it would be useful to include information about who has been involved in developing the Quality Account so that the reader knows from the outset how their views may be reflected within your Quality Account.
- 4.12 It is important that board commitment to quality improvement is not just reserved to this statement alone, but is echoed throughout the Quality Account. The whole of the Quality Account should tell your organisation's story; therefore this statement cannot be seen as a stand alone element. The vision you describe for your organisation in the foreword should be evident in the methods and outcomes you describe in the rest of the Quality Account.

Part 2: Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from the Board (in regulations)

Priorities for improvement

It is stated in the regulations that:

The relevant document must include, in Part 2, a description of the areas for improvement in the quality of NHS services that the provider intends to provide or sub-contract for the 12 months following the end of the reporting period.

The description must include:

- at least three priorities for improvement;
- how progress to achieve the priorities identified in paragraph (a) will be monitored and measured by the provider; and
- how progress to achieve the priorities identified in paragraph (a) will be reported by the provider.
- 4.13 This is the 'forward looking' section of the Quality Account. It offers the reader the opportunity to understand what improvements (related to the quality of healthcare services provided) the organisation plans to take over the next year and why those priorities for improvement have been chosen.

- 4.14 An organisations priorities for improvement should be determined by the process of reviewing services and working with stakeholders (including governors for Foundation Trusts). You should indicate how the priorities were decided and who was involved in the decision making process.
- 4.15 As Quality Accounts are annual reports, you would expect to see continuity between your accounts as time progresses. Organisations should report back on progress against priorities in future accounts. Providers should look to local and national indicators (particularly NICE guidelines and Indicators for Quality Improvement) as sources for validated indicators where they overlap with local priorities. Providers should demonstrate quality improvement success in subsequent years.
- 4.16 Some priorities may be achieved and a new area could become the focus for improvement, yet the reader first needs to be assured that the quality achieved in the previous year for a given area will not reduce if it is no longer a priority for the coming year. An explanation of how the quality will continue to be measured, maintained and developed should be included when 'retiring' priorities from your future Quality Accounts.
- 4.17 A review of the Quality Reports published in 2008/09 showed that a manageable number of priorities to set out within the document are between three and five.
- 4.18 The priorities chosen may align with, or complement, the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) scheme agreed with commissioners.
- 4.19 You should consider linking the three domains of quality; patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience to your priorities, allocating at least one improvement priority to each. This will ensure consistency and give breadth to your quality improvement plans, and prevent your strategy being too focused on one area, to the detriment of the other areas.
- 4.20 Again, it is important to involve key interested parties in developing these priorities, and the chapter on 'who should be involved in the design of Quality Accounts' offers suggestions. For instance, you may wish to focus on effecting equality improvements for those equality target groups and communities who experience difficulties in accessing and using the NHS.
- 4.21 Any improvement priorities will need a plan as to how you are to achieve this improvement, the chapter 'Quality management systems, embedding quality in your organisation' suggests some of the factors that you should consider when developing your improvement priorities. It also suggests areas that you may wish to reference in your Quality Account in order to present to the reader 'how' you intend to deliver against these priorities as well as 'what' you intend to do.

Case Study

University College London Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

UCLH NHS Foundation Trust has published Quality Accounts for two years now and has developed a format for establishing the quality priorities. First of all a long list of contenders are drawn up. Three of the Trust's Top 10 Objectives are around improving patient safety, experience and clinical outcomes so the long list contains contenders across all these domains. Possible priorities are derived from three sources; the Trust's performance over the past year against its quality and safety indicators; national or regional priorities and finally, from horizon scanning.

For example, last year, the Trust drew from its performance scorecard things such as, overall patient satisfaction, falls and medication errors; from national priorities VTE and patient experience and Global trigger Tool from regional priorities. From horizon scanning such things as re-admissions, mortality rate in specific conditions and PROMs were possibilities included in the long list. The list of contenders also had to be in areas which fulfilled most or all of the following criteria:

- 1. Where the Trust genuinely had a desire or need to drive improvement
- 2. Known improvement strategies; so that the Trust could hit the ground running in delivering tangible improvement in a defined timeline
- 3. Have measures either in place or in development
- 4. Capable of historic or benchmark comparison

The long list (15) plus the rationale for selection was then discussed and consulted on extensively with groups of internal and external stakeholders to develop a shortlist. In the second year of Quality Accounts a further question had to asked as part of the discussions; did the Trust want to and was there good reason to carry forward any of the quality priorities from the previous year. The Trust found that the shortlist and final selection became virtually self-selecting following this process in that there was wide consensus on what should be the final priorities.

Once established, the Trust has put delivery strategies in place for all the quality priorities. It has also tracked performance against improvement trajectories at all levels from ward to Board on a monthly basis using the quality scorecard and priority specific improvement charts such as the example below for patient experience.



Statements of assurance from the Board

4.22 In this section we have noted the form of the statement as per the schedule to the regulations, explained the background to the statement and at times suggested how you may wish to expand further on this statement in your Quality Account. If you intend to expand on any of these statements, it is imperative that you first meet the requirements by including the completed statements in the format specified in the schedule to the regulations, before adding any additional information.

The regulations state that the Quality Account should also include the following:

(d) Part 2, containing the information relevant to the quality of NHS services provided or sub-contracted by the provider during the reporting period which is prescribed for the purposes of section 8(1) or (3) of the 2009 Act by paragraph (2)

- 4.23 The aim of the nationally requested content is to give information to the public, which will be common across all Quality Accounts. This section is deliberately intended to be smaller in comparison to the locally decided and relevant sections, and is expressed as a series of statements from your board, which relate strongly to the drive for quality improvement.
- 4.24 These statements serve to offer assurance to the public that your organisation as a whole is:
 - performing to essential standards (such as meeting CQC Registration), as well as going above and beyond this to provide high quality care;

- measuring your clinical processes and performance (for instance, through participation in National Clinical Audits); and
- involved in national cross-cutting projects and initiatives aimed at improving quality, for instance, through recruitment to clinical trials or through establishing quality improvement and innovation goals with the commissioner using the CQUIN payment framework.
- 4.25 The content of these statements is to be set out in revised Regulations for Quality Accounts.

Review of services

4.26 Providers should complete the following statement:



"The [name of provider] has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in [number] of these NHS services.

The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in [reporting period] represents [number] per cent of the total income generated from the provision of NHS services by the [name of provider] for [reporting period]."

- 4.27 A review of your services entails looking critically at the evidence and drawing conclusions about what the evidence tells you. The evidence might be in the form of staff and/or patient surveys, national and/or local clinical audits, or data submitted to regulators and/or commissioners as part of a compliance, or contract or performance management framework. The important point to remember is that you have this data to hand, are responsible for its accuracy, and in many cases submit it to third parties for interpretation. It is only right that each organisation should itself be in a position to explain and interpret its own data.
- 4.28 The purpose of this statement is to ensure that you have considered quality of care across all the services you deliver, rather than focusing on one or two areas for inclusion in Quality Accounts. You should develop a plan, signed off by the Board (or equivalent) and agreed with stakeholders, for tackling the problems identified by reviewing data on the quality of services offered. This should be a rolling plan.
- 4.29 The data reviewed should aim to cover the three dimensions of quality: safety, effectiveness and patient experience and indicate where the amount of data available for review has impeded this objective. We expect that your board, in carrying out this review, will commission and consider expert analysis of its own data; involve clinicians and other stakeholders in their deliberations; and build in some element of challenge or peer review to their findings and conclusions. Where possible and appropriate, the data should be disaggregated by equality target groups.

4.30 You should consider building quality improvement processes into your organisational structure, such as the use of clinical dashboards, scorecards, real time feedback mechanisms (including conducting local patient surveys), the analysis of available complaints information or other analytical tools. Further information is given in Chapter 8, 'Quality management systems – embedding quality in your organisation and showing this in your Quality Account'.

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust – board 'Go & See' initiative

In addition to the review of data around the Board table, at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust each board member sponsors three wards, which they are tasked to go out and see as part of the Board 'Go & See' initiative. The focus of this is to offer the Board the opportunity to talk to frontline staff, patients and relatives of the wards, giving them first hand knowledge of improvements being made and where further improvements are needed. The checklist focused on hygiene and environment initially. This is also replicated at senior nurse and divisional level, to ensure that the leadership of the organisation, both the Board and the senior clinicians, are aware, assured and taking actions to improve hygiene levels and reduce infection rates.

Geraldine Walters, Director of nursing

"The Board 'Go & See' programme has been very helpful in enhancing board to ward communication and understanding. Ward staff have been very pleased to introduce members of the Board to their areas and have found their interest and input both supportive and encouraging. This initiative is something we want to build on and expand in the future, widening the focus to incorporate safety and operational efficiency in addition to hygiene and cleanliness."

Rachael Wood, matron in Gynaecology

"The 'Go & See' visits have been a powerful tool in making the Trust's quality agenda tangible to ward staff, prompting us to take ownership of our areas in a new way. This initiative has been of great value in assisting clinical staff in achieving the highest quality environment possible in a very visible way."

Participation in clinical audits

4.31 The schedule to the regulations requires providers to complete the following statements:

"During [reporting period], [number] national clinical audits and [number] national confidential enquiries covered NHS services that [name of provider] provides."

"During that period [name of provider] participated in [number as a percentage] national clinical audits and [number as a percentage] national confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in."

"The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that [name of provider] was eligible to participate in during [reporting period] are as follows: [insert list]."

4.32 National clinical audits are largely funded by the Department of Health and commissioned by the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) which manages the National Clinical Audit and Patients Outcome Programme (NCAPOP). Most other national audits are funded from subscriptions paid by NHS provider organisations. Priorities for the NCAPOP are set by the Department of Health with advice from the National Clinical Audit Advisory Group (NCAAG).

"The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that [name of provider] participated in during [reporting period] are as follows: [insert list]."

This list could be presented as a table below the statements

"The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that [name of provider] participated in, and for which data collection was completed during [reporting period], are listed below alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry. [Insert list and percentages]."

"The reports of [number] national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in [reporting period] and [name of provider] intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided [description of actions]."

These are reports published in 2010 that may relate to data collected in 2009/10 but may also relate to an earlier collection of data i.e. the audit and report of the audit fall in different financial years

"The reports of [number] local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in [reporting period] and [name of provider] intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided [description of actions]."

Local clinical audits are conducted by individual healthcare professionals or teams evaluating aspects of care that they themselves have selected as being important to them and/or their team.

- 4.33 The purpose of including these statements is that presenting data on your level of participation in clinical audits enables you to communicate to your key stakeholders that you monitor quality in an ongoing, systematic manner to board level. A high level of participation provides a level of assurance that quality is taken seriously by your organisation and that participation is a requirement for clinical teams and individual clinicians as a means of monitoring and improving their practice.
- 4.34 The importance of clinical audits in stimulating quality improvement stems in your willingness to use the information obtained to take action to make improvements. The statement itself offers the reader of your Quality Account the assurance that you take part in these programmes and use these to inform actions for improvement, as the value gained is in your use of the data and relevant local and national learning to drive

improvement. Therefore, patients, the public and your wider stakeholders would benefit from seeing the link between your audit programme and the quality improvement narrative within your Quality Account.

Measuring participation

- 4.35 The Department's website contains a list of national clinical audits (www.dh.gov.uk/qualityaccounts) drawn up by the National Clinical Audit Advisory Group. This is a comprehensive list of national audits which collected audit data during 2010/11 and met their inclusion criteria. You should refer to this list when reporting on the number of national clinical audits you participated in.
- 4.36 In addition there are three national confidential enquiries which should also be reported on for 2010/11:
 - National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD);
 - Confidential Enquiry into Maternal and Child Health (CMACH); and
 - National Confidential Inquiry (NCI) into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness (NCI/NCISH).
- 4.37 Although national clinical audits are not mandatory, organisations are strongly encouraged to participate in those that relate to services that they deliver. CQC will use information from national clinical audits in its Quality and Risk Profiles which will allow it to identify whether a provider is at risk of not complying with the registration requirements.
- 4.38 For the statements on participation, you are likely to want to involve your medical director and your clinical audit leads in agreeing a sub-set of national audits and national enquiries that cover the clinical services and interventions you provide. This will form your denominator.
- 4.39 From the list, you should select those national audits and national enquiries to which you participated by submitting data according to the specified requirements of the audit concerned. This will give you a numerator used to calculate the percentage of national audits and enquiries in which you participated. Participation in this sense means that you are contributing data. Therefore, if three out of four consultants are providing data on a specific intervention you are participating in the audit. Coverage is dealt with in a later statement.
- 4.40 Your list will show those national audits and enquiries that you could have participated in, by virtue of the services and interventions you provide, but have chosen not to do so.

Measuring coverage/recruitment

4.41 It is important that conclusions from national audits and national confidential enquiries are based on comprehensive data collection. The range of coverage can be measured in various ways; but for your Quality Account statement, this is broadly the number of

patients for whom data are submitted as a proportion of the number for whom data should have been submitted.

- 4.42 In this section you need to report on those national audits and national enquiries where the data collection was completed during the reporting year. Any national audit or national enquiry that carried out data collection during the reporting period should be included, so an audit collecting data from 1 September 2010 until 30 March 2011 would be covered in your 2010/11 Quality Account.
- 4.43 The precise method of calculating coverage is determined by each national audit or national enquiry. Some use the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) to establish a denominator, but others use different measures for example; the National Lung Cancer Audit compares the number of new cases submitted against the expected number derived from historical cancer registry incidence data.
- 4.44 You should use the best evidence you have available, including HES, to estimate the baseline number of cases and compare that with the number of cases you submitted to the national audit or national enquiry. Some national audits use sampling. If it is sampling period (eg September and October) you should report the proportion of eligible patients included during the sampling period. If the audit requires a predetermined sample size (eg 60 cases) you should report a proportion based on the number of eligible cases during the period from the first patient included to the last patient (eg first patient on 10 July, last patient on 23 September: number included divided by number eligible between 10 July and 23 September).
- 4.45 Occasionally a national audit or national enquiry will have published its data during the reporting year and coverage data can be extracted from that source. The list of recommended national audits is available on the Department of Health website with links to their national reports.
- 4.46 In many instances, the data quality on recruitment (inclusion) rates used in the 2010 Quality Accounts was weak. To support you in preparing your 2011 Quality Accounts, the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) will provide information on recruitment for each national audit in the National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcomes Programme. We will encourage other national audits to make their recruitment rates available on-line.
- 4.47 Where national audits collect and present data for a network of providers, for example the UK carotid interventions audit, it is legitimate to use network data in your Quality Account.

Presentation of the data

- 4.48 The clarity of reporting Trusts participation in national clinical audits in 2009/10 Quality Accounts was variable. Whilst some of you prepared information in a clear and easy to understand format, others fell short for the criteria set out in the mandated requirements.
- 4.49 For 2010/11 you should set out in tabular form all the national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that were recommended for 2010-11. For each audit or enquiry, show those that applied to services provided by your Trust and those that did not, stating whether or not you participated and the proportion of registered cases

submitted, against the total number of cases you could have submitted, or those required by the terms of that audit or enquiry, as in the following example:

Audit	Participation	% Cases submitted
Acute care		
Emergency use of oxygen (British Thoracic Society)	Yes	x%
Adult community acquired pneumonia (<u>British</u> <u>Thoracic Society</u>)	Yes	X%
Non invasive ventilation (NIV) - adults (British	Yes	Χ%
Thoracic Society)		
Pleural procedures (British Thoracic Society)	No	NA
Cardiac arrest (National Cardiac Arrest Audit)	Yes	x%
Vital signs in majors (College of Emergency	Yes	x%
Medicine)		
Adult critical care (ICNARC CMPD)	Yes	Χ%
Potential donor audit (NHS Blood & Transplant)	Yes	x%

For each national audit or confidential enquiry that you are not currently participating in, you are encouraged to explain your reasons for not doing so; or if you intend joining in the future, you may wish to set a projected date for commencement of participation.

Reviewing reports of national clinical audits

- 4.50 It is essential that providers, clinicians and managers reflect on the findings of national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries. Where necessary, they should take the lead on instigating changes to improve processes and/or change practice, and review the impact of these changes through participating in subsequent re-audit or other review.
- 4.51 In your statement, you should state the number of national clinical audit reports (published in the calendar year 2010) that were reviewed by your Board and, for each of those audits, the actions taken to improve the quality of services and the outcomes of care.
- 4.52 Last year most Trusts failed to present details of any actions to improve quality following the review of a national clinical audit reports. To support you in 2011 we will provide a list of national clinical audit reports published during the 2010 calendar year. The Quality Account should set out which of these your Trust has reviewed during 2010/11 and the actions taken to improve quality.
- 4.53 Whilst generally reporting was poor, there were some good examples:

Mid-Essex Hospitals NHS Trust

National Sentinel Stroke Audit: The number of stroke beds has increased from 18 to 24; daily Transient Ischaemic Attack clinics have been established (previously weekly) and the thrombolysis service cover has increased from 9-5 to 24 hour cover.

Hereford Hospitals NHS Trust

Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project (MINAP): A multidisciplinary thrombolysis group, including ambulance staff, formed. Patients coming into A&E with chest pain are given a red heart on arrival, to indicate that they are to be taken straight to treatment area rather than via waiting area.

Reviewing reports of local clinical audits

- 4.54 Local clinical audit can also be important in measuring and benchmarking clinical practice against agreed markers of good professional practice, stimulating changes to improve practice and re-measuring to determine any service improvements.
- 4.55 In your statement, you should state the number of local clinical audit reports reviewed by your Board and provide details of actions taken to improve the quality of local services and the outcomes of care.

Further reading

4.56 The Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership has published a clinical audit guide for NHS Boards, Clinical Audit: A simple guide for NHS Boards and partners (available at www.hqip.org.uk/).

Research

Participation in clinical research

"The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by [name of provider] in [reporting period] that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was [insert number]."

This means agreed to participate in the research but did not necessarily complete the study. This means a committee within the National Research Ethics Service (NRES).

4.57 Reporting bodies must keep a local record of research projects, in accordance with section 3.10 of the Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care – this information is therefore readily available from providers.

- 4.58 Research is a core part of the NHS, enabling the NHS to improve the current and future health of the people it serves. 'Clinical research' means research that has received a favourable opinion from a research ethics committee within the NRES. Information about clinical research involving patients is kept routinely as part of a patient's records.
- 4.59 In order to best benefit your reader, you should report this indicator in a context that makes it meaningful. For example, where relevant, and where data is available, it may also be expressed as a percentage of patients in the eligible disease groups, and/or compared with the figures for previous reporting years.
- 4.60 You are encouraged also to report on other areas, which demonstrate commitment to research as a driver for improving the quality of care and to the patient experience in relation to research. Information on research studies that have received a favourable opinion from a research ethics committee is published by the NRES.
- 4.61 The model statement in the box below covers relevant measures of success or potential areas for improvement. The National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) will publish details of data items and sources for this and other suggested statements at: www.nihr.ac.uk/Pages/QualityAccounts.aspx
- 4.62 For future years, the NIHR will publish comparative information on your performance, which you could consider using in the Quality Account statement on your contribution to health research.

Illustrative model statement:

Commitment to research as a driver for improving the quality of care and patient experience

[Regulation]

The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by [name of provider] in [reporting period] that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was [insert number].

[Advisory]

Participation in clinical research demonstrates [provider's] commitment to improving the quality of care we offer and to making our contribution to wider health improvement. Our clinical staff stay abreast of the latest possible treatment possibilities and active participation in research leads to successful patient outcomes.

[Provider] was involved in conducting [insert number] clinical research studies in [medical specialty¹] during [reporting period]. Over the same period, mortality amenable to healthcare/mortality rate from causes considered preventable² in [medical specialty] changed from the previous year by [insert percentage].

[sample explanation] The improvement in patient health outcomes in [provider] demonstrates that a commitment to clinical research leads to better treatments for patients.

There were [insert number] of clinical staff participating in research approved by a research ethics committee at [provider] during [reporting period]. These staff participated in research covering [insert number] of medical specialties.

As well, in the last three years, [insert number] publications have resulted from our involvement in NIHR research, which shows our commitment to transparency and desire to improve patient outcomes and experience across the NHS.

[Sample explanation] Our engagement with clinical research also demonstrates [provider] commitment to testing and offering the latest medical treatments and techniques.

[1] This refers to the relevant input Indicator from the Operating Framework

[2] This refers to the relevant Outcome Indicator from the Operating Framework

4.63 The inclusion of this statement demonstrates the link between your participation in research and your drive to continuously improve the quality of services.

Goals agreed with commissioners

Use of the CQUIN payment framework

4.64 The regulations require one of the following statements to be completed (as applicable): Either:

"(a) A proportion of [name of provider] income in [reporting period] was conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between [name of provider] and any person or body they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework."

e.g. a commissioning PCT

"Further details of the agreed goals for [reporting period] and for the following 12 month period are available electronically at [provide a web-link]

e.g. Use the NHS Institute website which is currently set up for sharing CQUIN schemes

(http://www.institute.nhs.uk/world class commissioning/pct portal/cquin.html) or provide a link to a page on your organisation's website

Or:

"(b) [name of provider] income in [reporting period] was not conditional on achieving guality improvement and innovation goals through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework because [insert reason]."

e.g. provider does not use any of the NHS National Standard Contracts, therefore not eligible to negotiate a CQUIN Scheme.

- 4.65 The CQUIN payment framework aims to support the cultural shift towards making quality the organising principle of NHS services, by embedding quality at the heart of commissioner–provider discussions. It is an important lever, supplementing Quality Accounts, to ensure that local quality improvement priorities are discussed and agreed at board level within and between organisations. It makes a provider's income dependent on locally agreed quality and innovation goals (0.5% on top of actual outturn value in 2009/10, 1.5% in 2010/11).
- 4.66 The inclusion of the CQUIN framework as a nationally mandated element in Quality Accounts will ensure that:
 - The relationship between Quality Accounts and commissioning for quality and innovation schemes is clear to local organisations and the public, helping system alignment.
 - You are required to be transparent about whether you are agreeing quality improvement and innovation goals with your commissioners, and earning part of your income by making improvements.
 - You are required to make full details of the quality improvement goals agreed with your commissioners available electronically to ensure transparency and help schemes improve over time.
- 4.67 If the CQUIN framework is not being applied to your income, then the Quality Account could expand on this statement to describe how quality improvement and innovation features within negotiation and management of the contract.
- 4.68 Use of the CQUIN framework indicates that you are actively engaged in quality improvements with your commissioners, some of which may impact beyond the boundaries of the organisation and improve patient pathways across the local health economy. Whether agreement has been reached with commissioners about quality improvement goals is therefore an indicator of your contribution to quality improvement in local health services more broadly. Both you and your commissioner need to be aware of the wider determinants of health inequalities and associated risk factors, and how they, through commissioning for quality improvements, can be addressed.
- 4.69 In order to expand on this statement you may choose to outline the agreed CQUIN goals, the rationale behind them (e.g. how they fit with local/ regional strategies) and associated payments.
- 4.70 Foundation Trust's should also note that Monitor requires them to report the value of the CQUIN payment in the Quality Report section of your annual report.

What others say about the provider

Statements from the CQC

4.71 You should complete the following statements:

Either:

"[name of provider] is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its current registration status is [insert description]. [name of provider] has the following conditions on registration [insert conditions where applicable]"

"The Care Quality Commission (has/has not) taken enforcement action against [name of provider] during [reporting period]"

e.g. as of 31 March 2011

Or:

"[name of provider] is not required to register with the Care Quality Commission"

4.72 You should state your CQC registration status, any conditions placed on your organisation, any other enforcement action by the CQC and any action required by you. This statement should refer to your status at the end of the reporting period (financial year) for the Quality Account, that is, on 31 March. You should state any conditions or action required since the start of the reporting year.

Either:

"[name of provider] has participated in special reviews or investigations by the Care Quality Commission relating to the following areas during [reporting period] [insert details of special reviews and/or investigations]."

"[name of provider] intends to take the following action to address the conclusions or requirements reported by the CQC [insert details of action].

"[name of provider] has made the following progress by 31st March [insert year] in taking such action [insert description of progress]"

Or:

"[name of provider] has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the CQC during the reporting period."

- 4.73 CQC's investigations and national programme of special reviews are developed in response to identified risks in the system. They might include provider-specific conclusions.
- 4.74 You should also consider including details of how you responded to the findings of these investigations and reviews, and any action you have taken in response. Where investigations are ongoing, you should indicate that information is still being gathered and recommendations have not yet been made.

4.75 You can refer to CQC for further information in relation to registration or other assessments.

Data quality

- 4.76 Good quality information underpins the effective delivery of patient care and is essential if improvements in quality of care are to be made. Improving data quality, which includes the quality of ethnicity and other equality data, will thus improve patient care and improve value for money.
- 4.77 You should complete the following statements within your Quality Account:

Statement on relevance of Data Quality and your actions to improve your Data Quality

"[name of provider] will be taking the following actions to improve data quality"

- 4.78 You should describe the relevance of your data quality to your overall care quality, and value for money with reference to:
 - The extent to which your data quality metrics and achievements support the veracity of your other statements on quality
 - The particular actions that you are taking to monitor and improve your data quality
 - Additional evidence of your data quality beyond the specific indicators detailed below. This may also include year-on-year metrics to show your progress.

NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity

Either:

"[name of provider] submitted records during [reporting period] to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest published data. The percentage of records in the published data:"

In this section you are confirming that you submit returns to the Secondary Uses System (SUS) and then you go on to show the quality of their data as described below.

"- which included the patient's valid NHS number was:

[percentage] for admitted patient care;

[percentage] for out patient care; and

[percentage] for accident and emergency care."

[&]quot;- which included the patient's valid General Medical Practice
Code was:

[percentage] for admitted patient care;

[percentage] for out patient care; and

[percentage] for accident and emergency care."

Only include figures for the data sets that you submit, for example, if you do not provide accident and emergency care, you will not submit accident and emergency care data.

Or:

"[name of provider] did not submit records during [reporting period] to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest published data."

- 4.79 The patient NHS number is the key identifier for patient records. The National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) is concerned about the number of patient misidentification incidents reported nationally. Between June 2006 and the end of August 2008, the NPSA received over 1,300 reports of incidents resulting from confusion and errors about patients' identifying numbers. Improving the quality of NHS number data has a direct impact on improving clinical safety. Guidance on the NHS number is available at: www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk/systemsandservices/nhsnumber.
- 4.80 Accurate recording of the patient's General Medical Practice Code (Patient Registration) is essential to enable the transfer of clinical information about the patient from a trust to the patient's GP. Information on the validation of the General Medical Practice Code is available at www.datadictionary.nhs.uk/data dictionary/data field notes/g/general medical practic

www.datadictionary.nhs.uk/data_dictionary/data_field_notes/g/general_medical_practic e_code_(patient_registration)_de.asp.

4.81 The source for the NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code (Patient Registration) validity percentages is the most recent provider view of the SUS Data Quality Dashboard. The dashboard presents the cumulative percentages of valid NHS numbers and GP Practice Codes in admitted patient care (APC), outpatient care (OP) and accident and emergency care (A&E) records for each acute trust. You can register to receive SUS Data Quality Dashboards at www.ic.nhs.uk/services/secondary-uses-service-sus/using-this-service/data-quality-dashboards.

Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels

4.82 The following statement is also required under the data quality section:

"[name of provider] Information Governance Assessment Report score overall score for [reporting period] was [percentage] and was graded [insert colour from IGT Grading Scheme]"

The Information Governance Toolkit is available on the Connecting for Health website (<u>www.igt.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk</u>).

4.83 The Information Quality and Records Management attainment levels assessed within the Information Governance Toolkit provide an overall measure of the quality of data systems, standards and processes within an organisation.

Clinical coding error rate

4.84 The following statement must be included in the data quality section:

Either:

"[name of provider] was subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission and the error rates reported in the latest published audit for that period for diagnoses and treatment coding (clinical coding) were [percentages]."

These should be stated in the same format as published by the Audit Commission, which is:

- Primary Diagnoses Incorrect [n%]
- Secondary Diagnoses Incorrect [n%]
- Primary Procedures Incorrect [n%]
- Secondary Procedures Incorrect [n%].

Or:

"[name of provider] was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during [reporting period] by the Audit Commission."

- 4.85 Clinical coding translates the medical terminology written by clinicians to describe a patient's diagnosis and treatment into standard, recognised codes. The accuracy of this coding is a fundamental indicator of the accuracy of the patient records. Information about the Payment by Results Data Assurance Framework clinical coding audit is available from the Audit Commission.
- 4.86 The clinical coding results should not be extrapolated further than the actual sample size audited and you should state which services were reviewed within the sample.

Part 3: review of quality performance (provider determination)

- 4.87 This section is where you will find information relating to the quality of services that your organisation provides. It should therefore reflect the type of organisation you are (for instance, acute or specialist services, mental health, ambulance, community etc.), and show data relevant to specific services and specialities as well as what patients and the public say matters most to them.
- 4.88 You should consider linking the three domains of quality; patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience to your review of services. This will ensure consistency and give breadth to your quality improvement plans, and prevent your strategy becoming too focused on one area, to the detriment of the other areas.

- 4.89 An organisation's priorities for improvement should be determined by the process of reviewing services and working with stakeholders. Quality information in part three of the Quality Account provides an opportunity to demonstrate how priorities were determined.
- 4.90 The indicators for quality improvement are one resource from which you could choose your indicators to include in this section. This is a national resource held by the NHS Information Centre, which draws together existing national and assured indicators of quality. Further information can be found in the 'Making use of information' section and the link to the NHS Information Centre webpage is: https://mqi.ic.nhs.uk/
- 4.91 We recommend that providers provide at least three quality indicators for each of the domains of quality; patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience. We have also asked Quality Observatories to develop and collate indicators (national or local) that providers could use in their Quality Accounts.
- 4.92 Foundation Trusts should note that Monitor mandate the inclusion of three quality indicators for each of the domains of quality, as part of the quality report in your annual report.
- 4.93 This year organisations also have to report on their community services. Organisations who provide a mix of acute and community services should aim to report on their acute and community services proportionately.
- 4.94 If any other organisations (for instance your strategic health authority (SHA), Primary Care Trust (PCT) or regulator) have asked for additional information to be included in your Quality Accounts and you choose to do so, this is the section where it should be included.
- 4.95 Because this section should, in part, refer to specific specialities and services, it is important that clinical teams play a part in choosing the content and developing the story. The chapter on 'who should be involved in the design of Quality Accounts' describes some examples of how this can be achieved.
- 4.96 Equally, you should aim to present information in both quantitative and qualitative formats so that it is meaningful for the wider public. Chapter 6 on 'Making sense of information reviewing and presenting data' provides some ideas, based on what members of the public have told us.
- 4.97 Information about complaints provides a rich source of patient feedback, enabling you to identify any trends or patterns of concern in the quality of services. You should also refer to any action plans taken to improve quality as a result of a complaint (particularly in implementing recommendations from the Health Service Ombudsman) where this supports your chosen areas of reporting.
- 4.98 You may also decide to use real time feedback mechanisms, including conducting local patient surveys, to monitor the quality of services from the patients' point of view on a more frequent/ongoing basis.
- 4.99 Standard contract quality areas or national clinical audits may also be used as sources of information for inclusion in your Quality Account to represent indicators of quality in chosen services.

4.100 You may want to consider the following areas within your review of quality performance:

First:

- Choose a selection of indicators that covers both organisational (for instance healthcare acquired infection rates) and service specific indicators of quality.
- Decide if you will use real time feedback mechanisms to get more frequent feedback on specific aspects of patient experience. For further information, see Chapter 7 on 'Quality management systems'.
- For each service line you describe, choose indicators that cover the three domains of quality : patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.

Then:

- Explain why and how you have chosen certain (local or national) indicators, particular services and specialities.
- Explain why and how you have chosen to conduct a local patient survey (if applicable).
- If the area shows a need for improvement, yet it is not included in your wider local improvement plan (for instance, because it is particular to a specific service) offer a brief explanation of the plan to improve on it.
- 4.101 While Quality Accounts should demonstrate outcomes it is also important that you offer information on how you are improving services and show evidence for this.
- 4.102 Our focus groups with members of the public and patient organisations showed us that the choice of content in a Quality Account plays a key role in the public trusting the information. While Quality Accounts are an opportunity for you to show what you are doing well, those Quality Reports that the public saw as 'marketing documents' were distrusted. Use of patient feedback, anecdotes and stories can strengthen your Quality Account, as well as show how patients and the public have influenced your quality improvement agenda. Further information about assurance of the information in your Quality Account can be found in Chapter 9: 'Trust and Assurance who is responsible for assuring the Quality Account?'
- 4.103 You should use Quality Accounts as an opportunity to show what you are doing well, but also to be open about areas you need to improve on. The key is to ensure that you commit to improving them, and state how. Further information on giving a rounded account is included in Chapter 6 of this toolkit called: 'Making sense of information reviewing and presenting data' and expanded upon in Chapter 7, 'Quality management systems embedding quality in your organisation and showing this in your Quality Account'.

Statements from Local Involvement networks, Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Primary Care Trusts

4.104 The regulations require you to send copies of your Quality Account to your relevant Local Involvement Network (LINk), Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and lead commissioning primary care trust (PCT) for comment prior to publication, and you should include these comments in the published Quality Account. This forms part of the assurance process for Quality Accounts and further information can be found in the section: 'Trust and assurance – who is responsible for assuring the Quality Account?'

4.105 It is crucial, however, that discussions with your LINk and OSC organisation(s) and commissioners should be ongoing during the cycle of development of a Quality Account. Further information on early engagement is given in Chapter 5: 'Who should decide what goes into a Quality Account?'

How to provide feedback on the account

4.106 Providers should give information to readers on how they can provide feedback on the report and make suggestions for content for future reports. Focus groups held with members of the public showed that many people did not see themselves getting very involved in the production of Quality Accounts. However, they did want the option to feed into the process, predominantly through feedback. There was, however, strong support for evidence in the report that patients and the public had been involved in the production of the Quality Accounts, and most thought that voluntary patient organisations would be best placed to do so. Further information on involving patient organisations is offered in Chapter 5: 'Who should decide what goes into a Quality Account?'

5 Who should decide what goes into a Quality Account? – Identifying your local improvement priorities

- Quality Accounts are your organisation's report and should be developed with and for those with an interest in and influence on your organisation's approach to the quality of its services.
- Decide early on who you are going to talk to and how.
- Ensure the discussion forms part of an ongoing dialogue about the quality of your services not just as a one-off discussion about your annual Quality Account.
- Ensure those you talk to know what they are contributing to and how it will be acted upon.
- Your Quality Account should reflect and acknowledge the involvement you have had and the contributions made to the process by others.
- 5.1 Quality Accounts are reports to the public on the quality of services a healthcare provider delivers. It is therefore important that they reflect your organisation as a whole, and tell a rounded story, including a description of the improvement plans in place.
- 5.2 In order to provide an accurate picture, all members of your organisation and local stakeholders (including governors for Foundation Trusts) with an interest in your organisation should have a part to play in developing the content and improvement priorities.
- 5.3 You should reflect the three domains of quality : patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience. Clinical teams should be able to see information about their service or specialty presented accurately and any improvement plans should be led within these teams. The wider workforce (staff and volunteers) should also recognise the Quality Account as describing the organisation that they work within. Commissioners should be able to see the organisation presented as they understand it, and the public should be able to access information which is meaningful for them and reflects, in part, the aspects of patient experience that matter most to them.
- 5.4 It is important that the content of Quality Accounts is developed by talking to groups of interested parties, and for their views to be reflected in the end product. In order to ensure that your local population as a whole is given the opportunity to shape the services they receive, you should ensure that your discussions actively include those from equality target groups and that their views are reflected in the Quality Account.
- 5.5 Quality Accounts are not to be seen as a project in themselves, but rather offer the reader an annual summary of a wider approach to quality improvement. Similarly, the

discussion and engagement around Quality Accounts should also be part of a wider discussion with the groups involved around the direction of the organisation and plans to improve quality.

- 5.6 PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) was commissioned to run an evaluation of the Quality Reporting exercise in 2009. Part of this process involved a survey of those responsible for producing their organisation's Quality Report, with a series of questions about the process and outcomes.
- 5.7 During this survey, PwC found that 41% of respondents felt they had done 'very well' or 'quite well' in engaging stakeholders, with 36% feeling that it did not go so well. This was mostly attributed to the limited timescales in producing Quality Reports. When asked what things would be done differently next year, the most common answers from respondents were that they would look to 'start earlier' and ensure 'better stakeholder engagement'. Respondents felt that this would ensure the content was relevant to their stakeholders.
- 5.8 Effective stakeholder mapping and involvement is key. However, our focus groups with LINks organisations indicated a concern that this engagement would not be acted upon. Some felt that when they had been consulted before, their views had been 'ignored'. They wanted assurance that their input would be acted upon.
- 5.9 Engagement should therefore be an ongoing process, not just a one-off event. You should consider this when planning your engagement strategy and ensure stakeholders know from the outset what their input will influence and how they can expect to see it have an effect.
- 5.10 You are encouraged to refer to the Department of Health's publication A Dialogue of Equals (2008), which sets out a process for how NHS organisations can engage effectively with seldom-heard-of marginalised groups. It contains worked-through examples of good practice.

Walsall Integrated Learning Disability team – Pacesetters programme

Walsall Integrated Learning Disability Team, in partnership with the Department of Health's Pacesetters programme, has increased the uptake to NHS cancer screening programmes. For example, women with learning disabilities have undertaken breast screening through a collaborative project between learning disability nurses and radiographers from the breast screening unit at Walsall Manor Hospital NHS Trust. The successful strategies used in this project have been extended to increase the uptake to cervical screening by women with learning disabilities and bowel cancer screening for the over-60 learning disabled population. Walsall has instigated robust educational groups such as 'Looking After Our Bits'. These groups are running efficiently and well, with over 150 women having attended these groups since 2007. The women are given information so that they have a clear understanding of what to expect at their screening visit, with the hope that it becomes a positive experience. It is also important for women to understand the consequences of screening or not screening. Through a combination of user engagement and raising staff awareness of the needs of this client group, Walsall has improved screening rates from 62 to 100% to date for those women who were able to be screened for breast cancer.

- 5.11 A strong element that came out of the engagement work with the public and patient organisations, and through the evaluation exercise, was that acknowledgement should be given within the Quality Account to those who helped influence the content and publication. An earlier section of this toolkit suggested making a statement on this within your chief executive's statement. This can then be expanded upon throughout the document, perhaps with patient anecdotes or quotes from stakeholders.
- 5.12 LINks members also suggested that they could have a role in checking the language of the Quality Accounts to ensure that they are meaningful to the public. This is also a role which members and governors of Foundation Trusts, non-executive directors of boards and members of other patient and public groups and forums which you engage with during the process may wish to offer.
- 5.13 Of course, patients and the public are key stakeholders in producing Quality Accounts, but many felt that the organisation's staff should also have a large voice within the Quality Account. If a Quality Account is to truly reflect your organisation and how you work, it needs to reflect the views of those who make it work including staff, and volunteers that work within the organisation or with it (in the case of NHS providers), through partnerships with independent third sector organisations.
- 5.14 Individual staff and teams should be given the freedom to check the accuracy of the information presented where it relates to their clinical services, and should play a key role in deciding where improvements can be made and how this can be done.
- 5.15 Volunteers should also have the opportunity to inform the content of the Quality Account. Where volunteers are valued and supported effectively, people's experience of those services, along with staff's experience and well-being, can be significantly enhanced. Volunteers can add value to the development of the Quality Account, and its presentation, from their experience of working within it as well as through their insight from the community's perspective.

Patient and public engagement and feedback

- 5.16 There are a range of benefits in collecting and using patient and public feedback. It:
 - helps to improve communication and shared decision-making between patients and staff;
 - helps to build trust and confidence in the NHS locally and nationally;
 - informs planning and service improvement;
 - helps the organisation to provide accessible and responsive services, based on people's identified needs and wants, and;
 - helps patients to shape the services that they use.

Complaints

"...instead of seeing complaints as a burden, or a distraction, or something to be dealt with outside the mainstream of service provision, we must see complaints as integral to the improvement of the services we provide..."

Extract from Secretary of Health speech, My ambition for patient-centred care' June 2010

- 5.17 The two main sources of patient experience feedback used in the NHS have traditionally been compliments and complaints, and the National Patient Survey Programme.
- 5.18 Of particular significance will be the data available on complaints. These provide valuable feedback for your organisation about the quality of services you are providing; at the same time, they provide demonstrable evidence to patients and the public alike of what action your organisation has taken to learn from complaints and to put in place measures to improve the quality of services. Of particular interest will be reference to action taken to implement any recommendations by the Health Service Ombusdman.
- 5.19 NHS providers already collate data on complaints as part of Regulation 18 of the 'Local Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints (England) Regulations 2009'. It would be helpful to reference this report in your Quality Account.
- 5.20 There is a growing interest from PCTs and NHS providers working in hospital and community settings in collecting information from patients and service users in as near to real time as possible. This is so that results can be assessed quickly. This approach offers a clear opportunity for the NHS to make improvements.

Patient Surveys

- 5.21 Another option available to you is to conduct local patient surveys. A localised support package for the NHS has been developed to monitor the quality of services from the patient's point of view on a more frequent/ ongoing basis rather than just relying on the annual snapshot afforded by the CQC nationally coordinated programme.
- 5.22 An advice centre (contactable by telephone or email) and a 'local survey' page on the NHS patient survey coordination website will contain all survey instruments and guidance on how to conduct a local survey for comparisons with results from nationally coordinated surveys: www.nhssurveys.org
- 5.23 Local Involvement Networks and Overview and Scrutiny Committees should be involved in your process, and they are offered a formal role under the assurance of Quality Accounts (see Chapter 9). However, you should also consider your existing channels of patient and public engagement and ensure you involve them: for instance, Foundation Trusts should involve their members and governors, and all organisations which have patient reference groups or similar should use the opportunity that Quality Accounts

present to start, continue or improve their discussions with these groups about quality improvement.

Patient involvement and shared decision-making

Royal Surrey County Hospital – haematuria patient pathway redesign project.

At the Royal Surrey County Hospital, the volume of referrals to the haematuria pathway was increasing and the length of time it was taking patients to complete the pathway from GP referral to a decision on treatment was growing. Analysis of the data from January to August 2008 showed that, on average, patients were waiting approximately 60 days.

Following some initial work a multi-disciplinary project team was pulled together as part of the RSCH's major transformation programme, Patients 1st.

The Patients 1st programme was launched in May 2008 to look at three key areas of the patient experience: Compassionate and Respectful Care, Safety and Quality, and Access and Convenience, which is where the Haematuria project sat.

To understand the issues faced by patients, an extensive series of interviews were held with patients using the service. Each patient rated different elements of the service (for example, level of clinical care, compassionate treatment, quality of environment) in terms of their importance and current effectiveness. Patients were happy with the level of clinical care received but they were visiting the hospital up to five times during that period, causing significant inconvenience and expense in car park charges. This was leading to patient dissatisfaction and these findings gave a clear remit for the project to simplify the pathway and enhance the patient experience.

The Haematuria project focused on issues that really matter to patients – safety, quality, easy access and convenience. Patients were heavily involved in defining the project aims and one joined the project team.

The re-designed pathway has reduced the patient's pathway from 63 to 16 days. Patients no longer have five visits to hospital, instead undergoing all diagnostic tests and receiving their results at a one-stop clinic. Patients with malignancy are diagnosed earlier, with only two diagnostic tests, and are placed on the appropriate pathway as soon as possible. The redesigned pathway has improved the quality of care for patients and the diagnostic pathway has been enhanced with no additional cost to the PCT. Overall, the biggest difference has been to improve the patient experience. One patient representative commented: "the focus on both the patient and the process were complementary".

An additional highlight of the project from the Trust's perspective was that new ways of approaching projects and of problem solving were introduced to the project team. These are skills which the team members can use to solve other problems that they may encounter in the future.

- 5.24 The White Paper "*Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS*" has placed a renewed emphasis on patient involvement and sets out the ambition to see the principle of shared decision-making *no decision about me without me* become the norm.
- 5.25 Genuine and full patient involvement can provide improvements across both the clinical effectiveness and patient experience dimensions of quality. International evidence shows that involving patients in their care and treatment improves their health outcomes, boosts their satisfaction, increases adherence to treatment and enables more efficient use of resources. Involving patients in service change and improvement

also offers the opportunity for them to contribute to service innovation and improved productivity.

5.26 In general, it is important to establish a mechanism for prioritising suggested areas for improvement, so that your priorities are realistic and manageable. Chapter 7 describes some areas for consideration when developing priorities, but it is important to establish a mechanism not only for discussion but also for feedback with those groups you have talked to about why certain areas were chosen over others.

Case Study

Norfolk and Waveney Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust - Creating a shared understanding with stakeholders

Why?

When we began talking about the Quality Account, we knew we had to help people understand what exactly this new concept was all about.

What was surprising was how differently people understood the potential of the Quality Account. It therefore became clear that in order to have a shared understanding of quality improvement we needed to have an open debate about it.

The principles of transparency, openness and clarity identified in Dialogue by Design (2008) for authentic engagement, were seen as essential to avoid disappointment. The process followed supports a shared journey of ongoing engagement and feedback.

How?

The debate about what quality improvement looked like in mental health was very interesting.

Some people said it was about meeting government targets;

Some people talked about best practice and NICE guidelines;

Many service users talked less about the effectiveness of treatment and much more about the quality of their relationship with staff.

The discussion about how quality was defined helped give a context to identifying the actual targets and clarity on a number of issues

Clarity in identifying what we could actually achieve.

Clarity about needing to be able to measure the improvement target,

Clarity about suggestions that were in fact a commissioning responsibility, for

example; the provision of in-patient services for children, not currently part of our services – but we did agree to take the issue up for discussion with our commissioners.

6 Making sense of information – reviewing and presenting data

Reports should be written in a way that makes them accessible for all:

- Data presentation should be simple and in a consistent format.
- Information should provide a balance between positive information and acknowledgement of areas that need improvement.
- Consider using qualitative anecdotes from patients, staff or other stakeholders to add contrast to the data.
- Consider giving data, information or anecdotes that relate to the concerns of local groups or communities including equality target groups.
- 6.1 Quality Accounts are public documents; they will be read by patients, their carers and the general public; and will be published on the NHS Choices website. Yet their audience also includes clinicians, NHS staff, commissioners, academics and other experts in healthcare. It is important that the information given is detailed enough to give an accurate and evidence-based account of your story, while remaining a short, readable document where the information is meaningful to the public.
- 6.2 In this chapter you will find information on how to write documents and examples of good practice based on the independently run evaluation of the test Quality Reports in 2009; discussions with patients and the public; and existing literature on this subject. This chapter also gives advice on how to collect or identify good quality clinical data and correctly interpret it, and how to clearly present the results to tell the story of your organisation's efforts to improve quality in the year to date and your priorities for the year ahead.

Quality observatories are a key regional infrastructure for driving up quality through the use of information and data. Each of the ten regions in England has its own Quality Observatory, which is a valuable resource for use by clinical teams, providers and PCTS. Their role includes:

- providing a local service to commissioners and clinical teams, including the provision of analytical advice to enable quality improvement on the ground;
- promoting and supporting the development of regional quality indicators as tools for quality improvement spanning safety, effectiveness and patient experience;
- supporting the identification and development of quality indicators at provider level to feed Quality Accounts; and

• signposting to information which will help to drive quality improvement within the region.

Quality Observatories are a valuable analytical resource for you to draw upon while developing your Quality Account.

Visit <u>www.qualityobservatory.nhs.uk</u> to contact your particular regional Quality Observatory and find out what support they can offer you.

Writing in a way that is accessible for all

- 6.3 Quality Accounts will be read by a variety of people, from members of the public to medical directors, prospective employees to commissioners. These audiences require different kinds of information and it can be challenging to meet all their requirements. Effective engagement is, of course, a key way of ensuring relevance, but giving thought to the way your information is presented can also ensure that these documents are accessible for all readers.
- 6.4 The information given in the rest of this chapter starts with the basics of selecting information and interpreting it, then looks at how to present it. A key message from our discussions with the public and NHS staff was that there should not be a need to produce more than one version of the document for different audiences; this would not be cost-effective and may undermine trust in the Quality Accounts if they were seen as edited. However, some innovative ideas were suggested which you should consider.
- 6.5 Members of the public said that technical jargon and medical terms may be needed at times, but felt that simply and consistently providing a short explanation after a term is used would help readers to understand the story being told. It does no harm for an 'expert' to read over a quick explanation of the term, but it can alienate the non 'expert' if an explanation is not given. One possibility would be to ask your non-executive directors, patients, or volunteers and non-medical staff to help you to spot areas where an explanation is needed.
- 6.6 The members of the public that we spoke to also said that they distrusted reports that didn't offer any analysis or explanation of statistics. Without this information it is difficult for someone to understand whether the results presented show good quality or a need for improvement, and what the implications are for them as a potential user of your services. You may want to include some discussion of:
 - how the indicator that you are presenting is defined;
 - how and by whom it is collected;
 - why you are interested in this indicator, and why the reader should be interested;
 - what the results mean for your organisation; and
 - what the results mean for them as a patient.
- 6.7 An idea that gained a lot of support from most stakeholders we talked to was having a 'summary' at the front of the report which highlights the key points plainly and clearly, with a more data-rich and detailed report for those who want to read on. If you choose to

do this, it is important to remember that the remainder of the report should still be written to be read by all, using some of the techniques explained in this chapter.

- 6.8 You may also consider including a glossary at the end of the document, or you could simply include a 'plain English' explanation of each specialist term in brackets throughout the document.
- 6.9 You should also be prepared to provide your Quality Accounts upon request in different community languages and in different formats where there is an express need to do so.
- 6.10 While evaluating a the 2009-10 Quality Accounts we found many good examples of providers who presented information to patients and the public in a clear manner. A selection of these Quality Accounts included:
 - Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children;
 - King's College Hospital; and
 - Trafford Healthcare

Selecting good indicators

What makes a good indicator of quality?

6.11 Some indicators, such as those in Indicators for Quality Improvement (IQI), are quality assured at a national level and you can be confident that they are good indicators of the quality of care your organisation provides. However, you may decide that your organisation would benefit from measuring something that is not well covered by a nationally assured indicator. In this case it is important to choose a locally determined measure that is a good indicator of quality and reflects the issues that the public and patients have indicated matter most to them.

The good indicators guide

The Association of Public Health Observatories (APHO) has produced a short, practical resource for anyone in any health system who is responsible for using indicators to monitor and improve performance, systems or outcomes. The guide gives information that will help you to choose the right indicators and includes the questions that you should ask when selecting which indicators to use in your Quality Account:

- Do the indicators address the important issues?
- Are they scientifically valid? (Do they actually measure what they are claiming to measure?)
- Is it actually **possible** to populate the indicator with meaningful data?
- What is the **meaning**? What is the indicator telling you and how much precision is there in that?
- What are the implications? What are you going to do about it?

The Good Indicators Guide is available at: www.apho.org.uk.

What is good data?

- 6.12 A quality indicator can only produce useful results if the data that it is based on is sufficiently relevant, complete and reliable. It is therefore important if you collect any data locally that you are able both to ensure that it is good data and to recognise when it is not.
- 6.13 The more **complete** the data you collect, the more accurately your indicator will represent the quality of care in your organisation. If the data is relevant to the people collecting it, or they have volunteered it themselves, they will be more enthusiastic and engaged with its collection and your data is likely to be more complete. You should monitor your systems and look out for missing data. If you find that large amounts of data are missing you should revisit your procedures and talk to those collecting the data to identify why.
- 6.14 It will not always be possible to collect data on every relevant incident or procedure. In such cases you need to decide whether the data that you have collected correctly represents the whole picture, or whether there is a systematic difference between the incidents for which you were able to get data and those for which you weren't. If you are looking at a sample of incidents, is the measurement process itself introducing any bias? You may not be able to completely remove biases such as these, but you should bear them in mind when interpreting your data.
- 6.15 There will always be an element of human error in collecting data. You should take steps to make your data more **reliable** by making sure that those responsible for data collection fully understand what they are expected to collect and why.
- 6.16 If you want data that is **comparable** between different clinical teams or time periods, it is important that you are aware of and where possible avoid systematic differences. You can do this by ensuring that the procedures for collecting data are consistent across the Board and remain the same over time.

Developing a local indicator

- 6.17 A governance model for quality indicator development has been designed to formally establish a more strategic approach to the development of quality indicators going forward, including the further expansion of the IQI menu. It has been developed through extensive stakeholder engagement and aims to clarify roles and responsibilities to support both 'top-down' strategic leadership and 'bottom-up' indicator development and innovation.
- 6.18 Figure 2 below illustrates how the various parts of indicator development fit together in the model to improve the coverage and utility of quality indicators across NHS services. It will be embedded from January 2010.
- 6.19 In summary, the cornerstones of the governance model include:
 - **Assuring national quality indicators** developing an 'IQI-ready' indicator will require assurance from various organisations, including relevant professional bodies.

- Getting indicators into IQI the NHS Information Centre will be responsible for the addition of indicators that are deemed ready into the IQI menu.
- Managing long-term IQI development the National Quality Board will provide the strategic direction for quality indicator development work, with a National Quality Indicator Development Group established to 'gatekeep' IQI development and drive forward indicator work.
- **Supporting local quality indicator development** the Governance Model will also support 'bottom-up' local indicator development.

Figure 2: the governance model for quality indicator development



- 6.20 You can read more about the IQI on the NHS IC website: <u>www.ic.nhs.uk/services/mqi</u>. To make a suggestion for a new indicator to be considered for inclusion in IQI, email the NHS IC via the 'make a suggestion' link on their site.
- 6.21 For the 2010-11 Quality Accounts we will encourage PCTs to comment on the suitability/relevance of a providers chosen indicators as part of their role in assuring Quality Accounts,.

Case Study

Guy's and St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust – Developing a list of metrics

Metric Selection Tool

Set a robust mechanism for selecting potential metrics - SMART objectives, combined with the Good Indicator Guide – communicate this to stakeholders. Note: QAs are one vehicle for quality improvement (albeit a critical one) & are not a substitute for local innovation, or transformation.

Develop a 'long list'

Develop a 'long-list' of potential metrics as early as possible & from a wide variety of sources – our main 'Metric Engines' were from:

Our staff: Trust-wide Patient Safety Group & Trust wide Medicines Safety Group; **Our locally held intelligence**: clinical & workforce indicators, incidents, complaints; and **our patients, users and local population**: LINks, Governor feedback and especially our local elderly residents association.

Refine the 'long-list'

Refine the long-list in discussions with staff, LINks & Governors. This may take more than one attempt to refine the list to an appropriate number. Align with CQUIN wherever possible, this keeps the number of new initiatives in year to an achievable/manageable number and importantly, can potentially fund new initiatives relevant to both Quality Accounts and CQUIN. Ensure that metrics are both locally and nationally relevant to your population and that they 'stretch' the organisation as much as possible – be ambitious.

Involve stakeholders

Great sources of critical feedback are you're Governors and LINks members, challenging, reflective and absolutely invaluable.

Exploit existing structures wherever possible... QAs are the way forward, 'orientate' the organisation around them... 'this is how we work now'. This year we plan mass staff feedback & suggestions on our 'long-list' from a number of staff safety conferences.

How to interpret data

Think about the questions that you are trying to answer

- 6.22 Before starting, it is important to be clear what questions you are trying to answer. You may want to know whether a particular aspect of the quality of care in your trust has improved since last year, or you may want to know whether your performance is better than, worse than or about the same as the national average. Think about the questions that your audience is likely to ask when they read your Quality Accounts and try to ensure that you provide the answers.
- 6.23 Each question will provide two or more alternative hypotheses, and it is your job to see which is supported by the data. The second example given above presents three hypotheses: the quality of care in your trust is better than the national average; it is worse than the national average; or it is about the same as the national average. You need to decide which of these is consistent with the data and rule out those that are not.



Consider the effects of chance and bias

- 6.24 If, for example, the data shows that your organisation is getting a lower score on a particular indicator than the national average it does not necessarily mean that the quality of care is lower than the national average. There is an element of chance involved in the outcomes that you are measuring, so you cannot automatically rule out the hypothesis that the quality of care in your trust is as good as, or even better than, the national average.
- 6.25 To account for this uncertainty, statisticians use **confidence intervals**. A confidence interval is the range of values within which, given the data, you can have a stated level of confidence the underlying quality of care lies. Statisticians commonly use a 95% confidence interval, meaning that there is only a one in 20 chance that the quality of care is outside the range. This may sound like a strict requirement, but one in 20 is about the same as the likelihood of rolling 11 with two dice it could happen. Information on how to calculate and use confidence intervals is available from a wide range of sources, including APHO's Technical Briefing 3 (see www.apho.org.uk).
- 6.26 The smaller the **sample size** (the number of events the results are based on), the greater the effect of chance and so the wider the confidence interval. If you were to toss a coin five times you might get five heads, so you might (incorrectly) conclude that the coin lands on heads every time. However, if you were to toss a coin 100 times it is very unlikely that you would make the same mistake. Similarly, an indicator based on a procedure that you only perform five times in a year will be less accurate than one

based on a procedure that you perform 100 times. As a rule of thumb you should try to use a sample size of at least 30.

6.27 As well as chance, you should also consider whether there is any **bias** in your data. One reason for bias is case-mix: the age of the population, social deprivation, incidence of smoking and many other factors could affect the outcomes that you are likely to achieve. Before coming to conclusions about the quality of care that you provide you should try to think of all such factors. In some cases you may be able to adjust for these factors.

Take an objective view of the data

6.28 In order to interpret your data correctly you should approach it without any preconceived ideas about what conclusions you might reach. There are numerous examples seen in everyday life of how parties with vested interests can reach convenient conclusions from data. Approach your data with an open mind and be willing to come to unpopular conclusions if that is what the data is telling you. Our engagement events with the public and service users have shown us that many people feel that presenting areas where development and improvement are needed gives the Quality Account honesty and integrity. Therefore, you should consider reporting on such conclusions within the Quality Account and use it as an opportunity to state what you are going to do to make improvements.

How to present data

Telling a story about your data

- 6.29 Whenever you are writing about data it is important that you tailor your style and approach to your audience. The audience for Quality Accounts is primarily the public, but also includes clinicians, NHS staff, commissioners, academics and other experts in healthcare.
- 6.30 When writing your Quality Accounts, focus on the key messages that matter and are of interest to your audience. It is important to do more than just recite the data in words. You need to explain to the reader what key messages the data contains about the quality of care provided by your organisation and what this means for them.
- 6.31 Our evaluation shows almost all providers complied with the format required by the Regulations, the content, presentation and production methods varied widely. This year's publications tended to have either a strong clinical focus, highly technical with little explanation for a wider public audience or more of a patient focus with little hard evidence to back up marketing claims.
- 6.32 Our engagement with patients and the public has shown us that it is critical that Quality Accounts use language that your audience will understand. If you need to use technical language, explain its meaning. Avoid overly long sentences, try to be as concise as possible and stick to simple words and everyday English. However, break any of these rules if by doing so you can make your writing clearer and easier to understand.

Using tables and graphs

6.33 Tables and graphs provide a visual representation of your data that can be more effective than text in getting your message across. They can also break up text and make your Quality Account much more visually appealing and engaging for the reader. This section contains tips on how to use tables and graphs effectively.



General rules for using graphs

6.34 A good graph can be an extremely effective way of presenting the key results from your data, but a poor graph can be confusing or misleading. The following tips should help you to create graphs that are both engaging and revealing to the reader. The tips in this section will help you to ensure that you get the most out of your graphs.



- 6.35 A good graph can be an extremely effective way of presenting the key results from your data, but a poor graph can be confusing or misleading. The following tips should help you to create graphs that are both engaging and revealing to the reader. The tips in this section will help you to ensure that you get the most out of your graphs.
- 6.36 A graph should have **one clear visual message**. Resist the temptation to attempt to convey more than one idea in a graph, as this is more likely to confuse than illuminate the situation.
- 6.37 Give your graph a **clear heading** that contains all the information that the reader needs to understand its content. Avoid acronyms and abbreviations and use proper grammar.
- 6.38 Avoid unnecessary **visual effects**, as these can make the graph much harder to understand. Many common software packages can draw 3-dimensional graphs steer clear of these as they make it more difficult to see, for example, the height of a bar.

Choosing the right type of graph

6.39 You should try to choose the most appropriate type of graph for the data that you want to present. For example, if you are looking at how something changes over time a line graph will usually be the best choice, while if you are comparing results from different teams or areas you will probably want to use a bar chart.



3D graphs are more difficult to read, so avoid them.



Benchmarking your results

- 6.40 Samantha Riley, head of the Quality Observatory at NHS South East Coast, has provided some useful tips in the paragraphs below for you to consider when approaching benchmarking of results.
- 6.41 Benchmarking can be a really useful tool to encourage improvement and can be undertaken at a range of levels individual, team or organisational. By looking at comparative information, it is possible to understand how teams/ organisations are performing compared with their colleagues, neighbouring trusts and best performers in the country.
- 6.42 The way in which information is presented is very important it needs to be visually appealing and at the same time enable the user to quickly and easily understand what the data is saying. In the example below, we can see the average length of stay for patients undergoing a non-elective procedure within the specialty of general surgery. The green bars (anonymised) indicate individual trusts within South East Coast and the blue bars indicate trusts in the rest of England. This representation provides only a snapshot in time, however; it is also really important to understand what is happening over time.



6.43 Here is another example, looking at an indicator within our Safer, Smarter NursingMetrics programme – falls per 10,000 admissions. Each graph shows the monthly rate over time (in blue) for the acute trusts within our region. The green line indicates the SHA average. A rate is a much better indicator to use than the actual number of falls if information from different organisations is to be compared, as organisations can vary significantly in size and a rate provides a level of standardisation. Falls (per 10,000 admissions)



Safer Smarter Nursing Metrics - Acute Trust Benchmarking

SHA Rate

6.44 All comparative analysis has to be viewed with caution as it is easy to jump to the wrong conclusion. For example, it would be easy to conclude that Trust C is performing poorly as it has a relatively high level of falls. The reality may be that the threshold for reporting falls is lower in Trust C and a higher number of falls is therefore reported. This highlights a really important point to consider when benchmarking – you must be comparing like with like. There must be clearly defined data sets and definitions associated with the indicators you are comparing, otherwise benchmarking is at worst useless and at best misleading.

6.45 It is often difficult for individual organisations to access benchmarking information as they do not have access to regional and national data sets. This is where regional Quality Observatories can help out as they can provide a range of benchmarks. You can find links to each Quality Observatory at www.qualityobservatory.nhs.uk. Follow the link to South East Coast, which has developed a large number of benchmarking tools and products, if you would like to see further examples.

Guidance for boards

6.46 In providing steers for the content of Quality Accounts, and in using the information contained within them, boards may want to refer for guidance to *The Intelligent Board*, a publication produced by an independent steering group of experts from the NHS to help boards to be effective, particularly in the use of information. The report is available from the Appointments Commission website: <u>www.appointments.org.uk/publications.aspx</u>

7 Quality management systems – embedding quality in your organisation and showing this in your Quality Account

Ensure that you are clear about:

- the quality of care you are delivering;
- how you are delivering this;
- what needs to improve, how this needs to be done, and what new systems, or changes to existing systems, are needed to deliver the change effectively and with the support of those involved (staff, users of the service and others with an interest); and
- showing the 'how' as well as the 'what' in your Quality Account so that your Quality Account will be more meaningful to the reader and invite accountability for the delivery of quality improvement.
- 7.1 The quality reporting exercise in 2009 was successful in highlighting how Quality Accounts could be further developed before their introduction in 2010. PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) was commissioned to lead an evaluation of this exercise, to review both the process involved and the results, and to make recommendations.
- 7.2 Quality Accounts to should report on outcomes for patients, what organisations do, and the quality of the services they provide. Outcomes are often the basis of many indicators and are a crucial means of assessing the quality of patient care received.
- 7.3 However, PwC's report made the key recommendation that Quality Accounts should also show how organisations strive to maintain and improve the quality of the services they offer. This recommendation supported the views of many stakeholders consulted during the development of Quality Accounts, who also thought it crucial to show how you were working to embed and improve quality within your organisation, based on what your stakeholders have told you is important to them.
- 7.4 PwC termed these elements 'quality management systems' and demonstrated how they work hand in hand with the three domains of quality:⁹

⁹ PricewaterhouseCoopers, Quality reports testing exercise evaluation, August 2009

Patient Safety

Clinical Effectiveness

Clinical excellence and outcomes

Patient Experience

and engagement

Quality Management Systems

- Continuous quality improvement, integrated governance systems, accountability, and internal assurance
- Information systems
- Workforce factors, inc. engagement, culture, health and wellbeing
- Productivity and efficiency
- Innovation, learning and development
- Links between quality and resources

An Effective Healthcare Organisation

- 7.5 Quality Accounts are tools to be used for reviewing your services, highlighting where improvements are needed, and committing to and making the changes as a result. For Quality Accounts to be of most use to your organisation, and more meaningful to the reader, we would strongly suggest that you consider your approach to quality and quality improvement and explain this in your Quality Account. Further information about some areas to consider within your Quality Account are described further in this section.
- 7.6 If you choose to present this information in your Quality Account, it should appear in Part 3 of the document.

Workforce factors

- 7.7 To achieve high-quality care, you need to ensure you have a high-quality workforce where staff and volunteers are committed, engaged, trained and supported. One of the main ways of measuring this is through the staff survey.
- 7.8 Our discussions with stakeholders during 2008 and 2009 showed wide support for the inclusion of workforce issues in Quality Accounts. This was both in terms of their input in developing the content, as described in Chapter 5, but also in terms of showing information relating to the workforce within this content.
- 7.9 It is important, when considering what information to include, to ensure that it supports your quality improvement narrative. A link should be made between information about workforce factors and the quality of patient care, focusing on the three domains of quality: patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.

- 7.10 The Health Act 2009 created a statutory duty on all NHS bodies, primary care services, and third sector and independent providers of NHS services in England to "have regard to" the Constitution when performing their functions. This duty also covers Monitor and the Care Quality Commission. The NHS Constitution sets out four pledges to staff:
 - The NHS commits to provide all staff with clear roles and responsibilities and rewarding jobs for teams and individuals that make a difference to patients, their families and carers and communities.
 - The NHS commits to provide all staff with personal development, access to appropriate training for their jobs and line management support to succeed.
 - The NHS commits to provide support and opportunities for staff to maintain their health, well-being and safety.
 - The NHS commits to engage staff in decisions that affect them and the services they provide, individually, through representative organisations and through local partnership working arrangements. All staff will be empowered to put forward ways to deliver better and safer services for patients and their families.
- 7.11 These pledges underpin the suggested areas for inclusion in Quality Accounts. Quality Accounts offer you the opportunity to raise questions about how well you are meeting these commitments to staff in the NHS Constitution, put in place plans to support improvements and measure the impact.

Planning and developing the workforce

- 7.12 Members of the public told us that they see the experience and training of the staff they meet in the NHS as crucial to the quality of care they will receive. They want to know that those caring for them have received the best training, are up to date in their practice and are the most appropriate people to be delivering their care. The staff pledges in the NHS Constitution set a clear expectation that all NHS providers provide staff with personal development and, where appropriate, professional development. Every organisation should have a strategy in place to ensure the training, development and learning required to deliver service and care improvements is identified and delivered. Quality Accounts can show this by including data from the NHS staff survey, for example, the proportion of staff who report:
 - receiving an appraisal and their assessment of whether these were effective;
 - having an agreed personal development plans and whether they received the training and development identified; and
 - undertaking job relevant training and if this was effective in helping staff stay up to date.
- 7.13 Having a workforce that is up to date and fit to practise is key to the delivery of safe, effective and respectful care. Work is being undertaken by the professional regulators and other professional and management bodies to develop plans for the revalidation of registered professionals A self-assessment tool called AQMAR Assessing the Quality

of Medical Appraisal for Revalidation has been developed and used by the vast majority of NHS bodies in preparation for medical revalidation. You could include in the Quality Account information that AQMAR has been undertaken on a regular basis, and that the Board has agreed and monitored a development plan, building on the findings.

- 7.14 When setting out your quality improvement priorities, consider whether you have robust systems in place to identify the workforce you need, both now and in the future, to meet service plans and what is affordable. Workforce plans should be developed with clinicians and should identify any initiatives that need to be put in place to manage gaps between the demand for and supply of workforce, including reviewing how services could be delivered differently. These plans should be prepared in partnership with other organisations so that the workforce needs across care pathways can be planned. With robust plans and strategies in place, you might expect to see an improvement in vacancies, staff turnover and the use of temporary staffing, all of which can be reflected in the Quality Account. You could also measure progress against plans for changes in skill mix and unit labour cost.
- 7.15 Of course, when planning any workforce it is important to think about the future. The quality of student placements should be high so that you can be confident that students are able to deliver high-quality care during their placement and that they have a good experience of working in the NHS. We know bad student placements can lead to students dropping out of their courses and Quality Accounts could include data about the rates of attrition from the placements in your organisation. You could also work with higher education institutes to consider how improvements to the quality of placements could be measured.

Staff engagement

- 7.16 Para 4.31 in the White Paper 'Equity and Excellence' stated that "staff who are empowered, engaged and well supported provide better patient care". The NHS will demonstrate its commitment to improving the health of the nation through its commitment to improving the health and overall experience of its staff. In this way, NHS organisations will be able to achieve higher levels of staff engagement. The evidence shows that high staff engagement scores in the NHS are linked to:
 - better quality of services;
 - higher patient satisfaction;
 - lower patient mortality;
 - less absenteeism; and
 - better quality of financial management.

This will also enable organisations to demonstrate their commitment to the NHS Constitution and the four pledges to staff.

7.17 The NHS staff survey provides a robust and comprehensive evidence base for measuring how well the pledges to staff are being delivered and in turn how well staff are equipped to deliver quality patient outcomes and safe effective care . The NHS staff

survey is the nationally agreed source of indicators covering staff satisfaction, staff engagement and other measures of staff experience of working in the NHS, which you could consider drawing from for your Quality Accounts to show how quality of care within your organisation is viewed by its workforce. Indicators which show insight for the public into the views of your workforce on this subject will be reported in the 2010 NHS staff survey. Important indicators are given by the scores recorded in the following key findings:

"% staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and patient care they are able to deliver" "Levels of Staff Engagement"

"Levels of Staff job satisfaction"

"% that would be happy with the standard of care at their trust if friends or family needed treatment"

"% staff appraised"

"% staff receiving job relevant training, learning and development"

"% staff able to contribute to improvements at work"

Health and well being

- 7.18 The NHS has committed/ pledged to improving the health of the nation through its commitment to improving the health of its staff. This will also enable organisations to demonstrate their commitment to the NHS Constitution and the pledge to provide support and opportunities for staff to maintain their health, well-being and safety. The physical and mental health and well-being of staff is closely linked with positive patient outcomes and is essential for a productive, self-reliant workforce. You can include in your Quality Accounts data from the NHS staff survey which demonstrates improvements in this area, which in turn will deliver better services to patients/service users.
- 7.19 Staff health and well-being are important factors in providing safe and effective care for patients. However, every year, staff that could be providing care are off work due to ill health. Developing a strategy for staff health and well-being, including providing proactive occupational health services (such as physiotherapy and mental health care) and training for managers in dealing with staff health and well-being, can help reduce the number of days that staff are absent through ill health. Quality Accounts are a useful vehicle for providing information about sickness absence rates and the impact on quality of care provided.

Leadership

- 7.20 At a national, regional and local level, there is a focus on driving quality and productivity to deliver improved services and better outcomes for patients, and on releasing efficiency savings. It is of central importance to the journey of improving patient experience and improving outcomes. This represents a significant challenge and strong, effective leadership is critical. The need for exceptional leaders, including clinical leaders, at all levels of the system has never been greater.
- 7.21 Evidence shows that good leadership, which puts patients at the heart of the NHS, is more likely to drive and deliver service improvement. Real and sustained change flows from having leaders, including clinical leaders, who articulate the common goal of improving quality and who connect everyone to the wider purpose of the organisation.

- 7.22 Successful leaders engage with their colleagues, and with patients and communities, to develop a clear vision of what quality means and a clear understanding of everyone's role in delivering it. Quality Accounts can provide information about how leadership at a team, service or organisational level is making a difference to health outcomes and patient satisfaction.
- 7.23 In order to deliver quality improvements, organisations need to look at the capability and capacity of their current and future leaders. As we move forward, leadership must be for everyone in the NHS and, in particular, we need to enable more clinicians, and people from diverse backgrounds, to take up key leadership positions. With that in mind, organisations may want to consider the leadership development opportunities they are providing. Is access to these opportunities transparent and open to all? What does the staff survey show: do all staff have personal development plans; have their appraisals been completed? Quality Accounts can be used to demonstrate effective talent and leadership planning that will help ensure that the health service has leaders in key positions who can inspire others, and leaders at the point of care who can innovate to improve patient services and assure quality.

Empowering staff

- 7.24 Organisations that deliver NHS services rely on good partnership working with trade unions. They also rely on partnership working with professional organisations and stakeholders. The benefits of such working are best realised when staff representatives bring an authentic voice to the partnership in the spirit of flexibility and constructive joint problem solving, with the aim of service improvement as a general statement of principle.
- 7.25 Those delivering care are often those who can best understand the reality of the quality of care being given and can suggest ways of improving their services locally. As discussed in Chapter 5, your workforce, both clinical and non-clinical, should be involved not only in designing the content of your Quality Accounts but also in the wider quality improvement plans which you present.
- 7.26 You should not consider Quality Accounts as 'an item' to engage you staff on, but rather as part of a wider ongoing conversation with staff about improving quality of care in your organisation directly and/or via representative groups or bodies. Quality Accounts should be able to show elements of this conversation, helping to demonstrate your quality narrative. This can be done by showing how staff are helping to shape your quality improvement agenda, perhaps giving examples of where this has helped to improve quality in particular areas or services. Examples could include improvements made through engagement with staff directly or through partnership with representative bodies.



The Quality Improvement Pyramid is an example of how North East London Foundation Trust went about improving the quality of services on their adult in-patient wards. The Quality Improvement Pyramid defines the approach developed as part of the "Ward Transformational Programme", a programme designed to improve the service user and staff experience. It involved co-ordination at all levels and tiers in the organisation - involving service users and staff in the design, delivery, monitoring and evaluation of the programme.

It was identified early in the project that staff engagement, and ownership of the programme were critical if improvements were to be embedded and incorporated into practice. The aim of the programme was to make quality part of everyone's business so that when it came to reporting back on progress, staff could see their input reflected in the outcomes.

The programme involved the implementation of the Productive Mental Health Ward programme, Star Wards, a set of service user defined standards and lean methodology. The aim was to engage and involve staff in the organisation at the individual, team, directorate and Trust board level.

The following are a few examples of strategies used: Individual Level

To support staff with delivering improved quality, Action Learning Sets were set up to provide a space for reflection and creative thinking. All staff were guaranteed monthly supervision and support which was then monitored through audit. All ward staff were given protected time to engage in quality improvement activities. Lead roles and responsibilities were developed for ward staff, for example we created a Ward Improvement lead role to act as a quality champion at ward level.

Team Level

All wards were provided with practice development support. Practice Improvement Practitioners provided ward staff with support improve practice and driving up quality at ward level. All teams where supported to develop Quality Improvement Plans (QIP) which identified ward staff agreed actions to address a number of quality criteria. Quality Improvement Meetings (QIM) were also set up as a forum for staff and service users to discuss quality and agree collective actions. The QIP provided the structure and agenda for the QIM.

Directorate Level

A Top Team Development Programme was introduced which focused on Directorate objectives to deliver quality, improve team dynamics and leadership.

The Modern Matron in each directorate provided clinical leadership of the programme and monitored delivery

Trust Board Level

An Executive Director was identified as the lead for the ward improvement programme and Executive Directors assigned to each of the in-patient wards. This meant that each ward had a Director who had lead responsibility for forming supportive links with ward staff, visiting six weekly and asking staff about the various improvement iniatives.

As a result of the programme, quality is not seen as a separate issue, but rather part of what we do. A direct link exists between the Quality Improvement Plans on the wards and the measures reported on in the Quality Accounts report. This enables staff to see Quality Accounts as part of their story and see the relevance of the document and their contribution to it.

Quality of the environment in which care is delivered

- 7.27 Many of the patients and members of the public interviewed during the focus groups on Quality Accounts identified cleanliness and condition of the facilities/premises their main priorities for inclusion within a Quality Account. This not only links to the experience a patient has of their care but also has links to safety, particularly in relation to healthcare acquired infections.
- 7.28 Quality is at the heart of everything the NHS does and is a catalyst for change and improvement in many areas. Nationally, mechanisms have been put in place to help support local organisations and clinical teams in their delivery of this. One such tool is the Premises Assurance Model (PAM) developed by the NHS in partnership with the Department of Health. The PAM supports NHS organisations to demonstrate how they are delivering the environmental components of the NHS Constitution. It provides a comprehensive reference point for organisations to compare the quality and efficiency of their premises with their peers. The model was made available to the NHS Acute Hospital Sector in April 2010 and is available by contacting PAMHelpdesk@dh.gsi.gov.uk
- 7.29 The model is structured around five domains, with three safety, effectiveness and patient experience directly focusing on the quality agenda (the remaining domains are

finance and value for money (VFM), and Board Governance). As a self-assessment tool, it comes pre-loaded with Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) activity, and nationally collected environment performance data. It is designed to identify how well premises support the delivery of high quality outcomes for patients, allowing NHS Acute Sector Providers and their commissioners, at board level, to take steps to improve the quality of patient environments to support the delivery of high-quality healthcare outcomes.

7.30 The PAM is a resource which can be drawn on to show how the quality of premises is affecting the quality of patient care delivered and subsequently demonstrate how the physical environment contributes to positive healthcare outcomes. The PAM contains a range of indicators and metrics, which focus on patient experience drawn from nationally reported information. This information is also balanced against patient experience self-assessment questions drawn from areas such as national patient surveys, complaints, real-time feedback and/or locally conducted patient surveys. The PAM is intended to make a major contribution in the provision of information upon which to base environment quality achievement and strategies, and you can use this information in your Quality Account.

Links between quality and resources

- 7.31 When describing how you are achieving and will achieve quality, you will raise questions about the use of your resources, in terms of the need for additional resources or prioritisation and improvement of existing resources.
- 7.32 The previous section described how your largest resource, your workforce, could best be engaged and reflected in your Quality Account; this section discusses further areas that contribute to the wider improvement of quality, and which you could consider including information on in the body of your Quality Account.

Information resources – quality in measurement

- 7.33 Trust in the content of your Quality Accounts relies on the story told being honest, open and rounded, and on the data within the Quality Account being robust. Without productive and effective measurement and collation of data, the analyses made and actions for improvement identified will not be valid.
- 7.34 Due to this critical link between data quality and Quality Accounts, the regulations include a requirement for information relating to data quality to be published in Quality Accounts. Further information on this can be found in Chapter 5.
- 7.35 In addition to these organisational-level statements, it is also important to recognise that service-line measurement, reporting and improvement relies on data collected at team level. Those involved in delivering a service should play a key role in not only verifying the data relating to that particular service before it is used in a Quality Account, but also in reviewing and deciding how to prioritise and deliver improvements.
- 7.36 Questions to consider regarding the effectiveness of your measurement systems and processes include:

- How is information being collated and examined by those responsible at all levels of the organisation? Do you have systems in place for information to transfer between clinical teams and the Board and back again?
- Do your clinical teams make use of helpful tools such as scorecards, dashboards or other locally designed systems to continuously review their performance locally?
- What do clinical teams do with national indicators relevant to their specialty? Do they utilise the data collected and if so, how? Are they developing new indicators to use locally?
- 7.37 These are all questions which you should be able to answer as part of your quality improvement strategy. Therefore you should also consider describing some of these, for instance what you are doing well, or what you need to improve on, with regards to measurement within your quality narrative. This may be well placed in the data quality section of your account, or aligned to your priorities for quality improvement in terms of describing how you intend to improve and how you intend to measure this improvement.
- 7.38 Connecting for Health has completed a pilot phase to develop Clinical Dashboards with providers of NHS services. Clinical Dashboards act as enablers to improve clinical quality and productivity. They provide a visual display of information, typically taken from a range of existing systems (sometimes even crossing organisational boundaries), to show and track local performance. In addition, they can enable clinicians to 'drill down' and generate customised reports on underlying data. This allows clinical teams to lead local clinical governance cycles more effectively and provides practical opportunities to identify and then maintain effective change. Further information about clinical dashboards can be found at: www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk/clindash

Aligning quality and your wider business strategy

- 7.33 In order for the system to focus on improving both quality and productivity simultaneously, work is needed by all levels of the system. The Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programme is continuing to provide support at a local, regional and national level to identify how services can improve the quality of care they deliver, making them more responsive to patients, and in a more productive way. Organisations across the system will need to work with local partners and communities to identify and prioritise those activities which improve both quality and value for money.
- 7.34 Quality and productivity are not mutually exclusive and can go hand in hand. Improving processes and procedures, and prioritising the most effective treatments reduce errors and waste, improve the quality of care, and make the health service more efficient and productive, as does keeping people healthy and independent for as long as possible.
- 7.35 Innovation plays a key role in the link between quality and productivity, as new practices and technologies can help to improve standards and give rise to cash-releasing savings at the same time. Chapter 5 showed that innovation and research should feature in your Quality Account, with a statement in the regulations with regards to research. You should also use this section to explain any other innovative work you are undertaking, and how it is improving quality in your services. This should include an explanation of how you are adopting and diffusing innovative techniques to drive the improvements you have identified as priorities.

- 7.36 Quality and productivity are the central resources to provide evidence on how to improve quality and productivity in the NHS. The NHS Evidence Collection, organised around care pathway groups, was launched in December 2009, and will evolve and expand over time to build a comprehensive library of quality and productivity evidence. To visit the evidence, go to: www.evidence.nhs.uk/qualityandproductivity
- 7.37 Ensuring that strategic and business objectives are aligned with the focus on quality will help you to ensure that quality is embedded throughout the organisation. Your Quality Account should demonstrate that delivering high-quality care for all is part of your core business, and is taken seriously by your organisation and is not being jeopardised by the economic climate.
- 7.38 Local government and other local partners can support the organisation's focus on quality and directly contribute towards specific quality objectives. Certain groups older people in particular but also those with physical and learning disabilities may have the quality of their experience, or the safety of transition, affected by interaction with other partners, including adult social care. The input of other service providers working in partnership may also contribute towards quality improvement objectives around acute admissions and discharge practice, among other areas. Your Quality Account could show how your trust engages other partners to share its vision for quality improvement as part of its wider business strategy.

The Productive Series¹⁰ – Better care through focusing on efficiency

The Productive Series has been developed by the NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement. There are six programmes within the series, all of which aim to equip clinicians and their teams with structured methods designed to improve the environment they work in, their systems and processes. The time released by making processes more efficient can then be used for improving the safety, quality and reliability of both patient care and the patient experience. Also at a time of financial challenge, The Productive Series enables clinicians to make decisions about re-designing their services and utilising resources most efficiently. The series comprises:

The Productive Ward

•The Productive Mental Health Ward

The Productive Community Hospital

The Productive Leader

The Productive Operating Theatre

•Productive Community Services

At a time of fiscal challenge within the NHS, the importance of implementing improvements that have the ability to drive up quality, increase efficiency and reduce waste is paramount. The Productive Series has the ability to do this.

¹⁰ <u>http://www.institute.nhs.uk/quality_and_value/productivity_series/the_productive_series.html</u>

There is strong evidence of improved quality and efficiency across the Productives from Trusts.:

• Northumbria Healthcare Foundation Trust has recently reviewed the benefits realisation resulting from implementing the Productive Operating Theatre (TPOT). 30 theatres on five hospital sites have implemented the TPOT programme in the last 18 months. It was estimated that £1 million was being wasted on patient cancellations each year and these have now been reduced by a half, with on-going work to reduce this to reach 100% reduction, saving nearly £0.5 million pounds in the first year. Patient journeys have also been reduced by half.

• Since implementing the Productive Ward, Portsmouth Hospital has seen a 30% drop in falls rates and 10 months of zero pressure ulceration on their acute long-stay orthopaedic ward. Before this there were 3 to 4 falls per month at a cost of between £4,000 to £20,000 per month.

• Staff at the Hartington Unit at the Chesterfield Royal Hospital have increased early discharge of their patients by 400 per cent in just five months thanks to The Productive Mental Health Ward. The work has reduced the number of bed days from 70 to 50, with staff aspiring to bring this down even further to 30-35. This improvement is an early indication of the long term benefits that can be achieved and sustained by implementing The Productive Mental Health Ward.

•Significant improvements have also been identified for staff. In a recent staff survey at Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust, 84% of those who responded said they felt less stressed since implementing The Productive Ward. 80% reported feeling happier at work and 56% said they were finding it easier to access training since they had re-designed their processes and eliminated unnecessary waste.

The Productives are designed using a modular self-directed approach. This not only empowers clinicians to take control of their own processes but also creates strong and confident leaders. It has been said that The Productive Series are leadership programmes in disguise. All team members are involved in implementation. This results in increased capacity and capability in improvement tools and techniques which in turn, facilitates a culture of continuous improvement.

The Productive Series has enabled front line staff to transform the services they provide to patients ensuring that care provided is of the highest quality whilst also maximising the use of scarce resources
8 How should Quality Accounts be published?

- You should publish your Quality Account on NHS Choices
- You are also required to make hard copies available on request.
- You may choose to publish or distribute this elsewhere in addition to meeting legal requirements, for instance on your organisation's website.
- 8.1 The regulations state that Quality Accounts must be published by 30 June following the end of the reporting period. They should be published electronically on NHS Choices, or another website if NHS Choices is not available at the time of publication, and a copy sent to the Secretary of State.

Comment by PCTs/LINks/OSCs

- 8.2 Comments by PCT's/LINks/OSCs are key to the Quality Accounts assurance process. Although Regulations set out the formal process, engagement on Quality Accounts between providers and PCT's/LINks/OSCs should be year round.
- 8.3 The Regulations state that PCTs have 30 days to comment on your Quality Account. It is sensible to give LINks and OSCs the same deadline. Therefore, you must have your draft account ready to send to PCT's/LINks/OSCs at least 30 days before the final deadline.

Deadline for Annual report to Monitor

- 8.4 Monitor's annual reporting guidance requires NHS Foundation Trusts to include a report on the quality of care they provide within their annual report. NHS Foundation Trusts also have to publish a separate Quality Account each year, as required by the Health Act 2009, and in the terms set out in the Regulations.
- 8.5 Monitor's annual reporting guidance for the Quality Report incorporates the requirements set out in the Department of Health's Quality Accounts Regulations, as well as additional reporting requirements set by Monitor (See Chapter 4 and Monitor's website11).
- 8.6 Foundation Trusts must submit their report to Monitor as part of their annual report by 8 June. Foundation Trust's must then also send a copy of their Quality Account to Secretary of State and upload their Quality Account (see below). Many Foundation Trusts chose to present their Quality Account as part of their annual report and accounts. This is one method of ensuring consistency across the reporting and publication period. However, all Quality Accounts will be published on NHS Choices, the

¹¹ http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/

audience for which is the general public; therefore you must ensure that you can easily separate the Quality Accounts chapter from the annual report in order to send it as a separate document to this particular portal.

Deadline submitting Quality Accounts

8.7 All providers producing a Quality Account must submit their Quality Account to the Secretary of State and have their Quality Account uploaded to NHS Choices by the 30 June.

Sending your Quality Account to Secretary of State

8.8 In order to submit your Quality Account, please send the final version to qualityaccounts@dh.gsi.gov.uk. You do not need to post the Quality Account to the Department of Health.

Uploading your Quality Account to NHS Choices

- 8.9 All acute and mental health trusts can upload their Quality Account to their profile page on NHS Choices. Please contact your member of staff/administrator who can upload Quality Accounts to your profile. Please contact the choices help desk if you have any difficulty uploading thechoicesteam@nhschoices.nhs.uk.
- 8.10 Those providers who do not have the ability to upload Quality Accounts should send their Quality Account (in a pdf format) to [uploadQualityAccount@dh.gsi.gov.uk]. The Quality Account will then be loaded onto the Quality Accounts page on NHS Choices.



- 8.11 Following the publication of a Quality Account, there is a legal requirement under the Health Act 2009 for you to place a notice at the premises where your patients are receiving their healthcare services, stating where your Quality Account can be obtained. You do not need to place a notice in buildings where you do not have control of the premises.
- 8.12 Equally, the Health Act 2009 states that each provider must make available on request, to any person who requests it, hard copies of the previous two years' Quality Accounts. Again, organisations may want to think about how to provide this as a separate document in these instances.

8.13 Feedback from patients and the public showed that the vast majority did not feel that providers should distribute these door to door, due to the cost and environmental implications. However, online publication, with the option of providing the Quality Accounts in different formats on request to those who require them, was supported.

9 Trust and assurance—who is responsible for assuring the Quality Account?

Quality Accounts are not marketing documents, but a chance to enter into a real, open and honest dialogue with the public regarding the quality of care in your organisation. Quality Accounts will achieve their full potential only if they are credible, and the content is subject to independent scrutiny and challenge.

- 9.1 Powers have been granted in the Quality Accounts section of the Health Act 2009 that:
 - give the CQC and SHAs a role in asking for errors and omissions identified in published Quality Accounts to be corrected;
 - require providers to send a copy to the Secretary of State; and
 - enable the Department of Health to make regulations about:
 - the form and content, in addition to the nationally mandated content;
 - imposing duties to ensure the accuracy of information;
 - how and when a Quality Account must be published; and
 - the provider having regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State.
 Although the wording of the Act means that regulations may also specify that providers must have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State, that is not the current proposal.
- 9.2 The assurance mechanisms for this first year of Quality Accounts require you to:
 - include a set of mandatory data quality statements within your Quality Account, covering:
 - the use of the NHS number (which measures the completeness of the data held on patients);
 - the clinical coding error rate (which measures the accuracy of data recording);
 - the use of GP medical practice code (which again measures patient data completeness); and
 - the Information Quality and Records Management score (covering the quality of data systems and process within an organisation);
 - provide a self-certification of the accuracy of the information in the Quality Account; and

set up a mechanism of pre-publication clearance by the coordinating commissioning PCTs, LINks and OSCs.

Comments by PCTs/LINks/OSCs

- 9.3 Comments by PCT's/LINks/OSCs are key to the Quality Accounts assurance process. Although Regulations set out the formal process, engagement on Quality accounts between providers and PCT's/LINks/OSCs should be year round.
- 9.4 The Regulations state that PCTs have 30 days to comment on your Quality Account. It is sensible to give LINks and OSCs the same deadline. Therefore, you must have your draft account ready to send to PCT's/LINks/OSCs at least 30 days before the final deadline.
- 9.5 Quality Accounts provides an opportunity for local LINk/OSCs to discuss NHS healthcare matters together as well as providing the opportunity for healthcare providers to talk to their stakeholders, including governors.
- 9.6 Assurance is required to ensure that the information in Quality Accounts is accurate and fairly interpreted, and that the range of services described and priorities for improvement are representative (i.e. they reflect the services you deliver both in terms of highest volume and value, as well as those that are important to your patients; the information should present both positive areas and also be open about areas which need improvement).
- 9.7 For the 2010-11 Quality Accounts we will encourage PCTs to comment on the suitability/relevance of a providers chosen indicators as part of their role in assuring Quality Accounts,
- 9.8 Our evaluation of the 2009-10 Quality Accounts process found that the PCT/LINks/OSC comment process was an effective tool for assurance. However, we have been made aware of a number of issues.

National/multi-site providers

9.9 We do not expect an PCTs/LINks/OSC to be in a position to assure the quality of a national provider. Instead, we ask that the provider demonstrates how they nationally engage stakeholders day-to-day and in the production of the Quality Account.

Multiple assurers wishing to comment

- 9.10 The legal requirement for providers (set out in the Regulations for Quality Accounts) is that they send their Quality Account to one LINk/OSC only. In order to write this requirement in the regulations we had to very specifically define which LINk/OSC the provider was to send their Quality Account to and this was achieved by describing the geographic location of the LINk/OSC.
- 9.11 This is a minimum requirement providers and LINk/OSCs are free to do more and we would encourage them to do so.

- 9.12 Our evaluation of the process for 2009-10 found that a word limit of 500 was restrictive when assures wished to provide a joint comment. We have therefore increased the word limit to 1000 words. This is a maximum, assurers should not feel they have to meet the limit, and we would recommend that 500 words is still a sensible length for comments.
- 9.13 Mini Toolkits regarding the role of PCTs, LINks and OSCs will be published in due course.
- 9.14 You will also find more explanation of the regulations at Annex A to this toolkit.
- 9.15 As long as the legal requirements concerning assurance are met, you are able to then go further, should you wish, and invite other stakeholders to comment. For example, some of you may have other patient reference groups or similar forums, which you engage with on a frequent basis. You may therefore wish to ask them for a statement, similar to that requested from your LINk or OSC, to include in your Quality Account in order to enhance your narrative and demonstrate the involvement of service users.
- 9.16 We will work with Healthwatch to ensure the assurance process is not lost as LINks organisations move to become Local Healthwatch Organisations.

Third Party Assurance

- 9.17 In the White Paper "*Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS*" the Government committed to continue to strengthen the independent assurance of Quality Accounts to ensure the content is accurate and fair.
- 9.18 The National Quality Board has commissioned work involving the Department of Health and Monitor to build on this system of assurance.
- 9.19 For the 2009/10 Quality Accounts Monitor asked Foundation Trusts to take part in an external audit dry run process. The dry run required auditors to prepare a report for management which reviewed the:
 - The arrangements to prepare the 2009/10 Quality Accounts; and
 - Sample testing of three performance indicators
- 9.20 Monitor have begun an evaluation project of the dry run undertaken in 2009/10 to allow them to refine the proposals for 2010/11. The scope of the evaluation project will involve:
 - Reviewing a sample of reports;
 - Surveying FTs and auditors on the process last year; and
 - Workshops with FTs to develop proposals.

- 9.21 Following the evaluation, Monitor will refine the scope of the external audit work for the Foundation Trust's 2010/11 Quality Accounts and determine the timeframe for published external audit opinions. Monitor will consult on these proposals in early December.
- 9.22 Regulations are likely to require Non FT providers to follow the approach set by Monitor for Foundation Trusts but the work will be limited to a dry run of the external assurance work in 2010/11.

10 What next? Evaluating and moving forward

Your next steps

- 10.1 It is important that both the Quality Accounts and the wider improvement agenda are continually reviewed, built upon and improved for the future. It may be worth inviting back some of those who helped you design your Quality Account to review the finished product and start planning for next year as a result.
- 10.2 It is, of course, the content of the Quality Accounts which needs to be reviewed to ensure that the improvement plan is progressed. Quality Accounts are annual and the public will want to see consistency between them so that, year-on-year, progress updates are given on the results of last year's planning and prioritisation, followed by an account of what will happen in the next year. This looking both back and forward in Quality Accounts is crucial to giving the public information about the quality journey your organisation is on.

The Quality Accounts framework

10.3 We will continue to work with stakeholder to review the effectiveness of Quality Accounts and how they sit in an NHS as described by the White Paper, *Equity and Excellence*. Work will continue on third party assurance and developing Quality Accounts for Primary Care.

Proposed Timetable

	Primary care	Community Care	Acute sector
2010-11	Testing and	New Regulations	New Regulations and
	engagement	and guidance	guidance for 2010-11
			(including further
			guidance developed
			with Monitor on a
			possible revised
			assurance
			mechanism);
Summer	Guidance for	First Quality	Second Quality
2011	providers	Accounts	Accounts published,
	Dry run Quality	published	with i) dry run of new
	Accounts		assurance mechanism

	published		for non-Foundation
			Trusts; ii) published
			assurance for
			Foundation Trusts
Summer	First Quality	Second Quality	Third Quality Accounts
2012	Accounts	Accounts	published, with new
	published	published	assurance mechanism

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) quality standards

- 10.4 NICE quality standards are a set of specific, concise statements that act as markers of high-quality, cost-effective patient care, covering the treatment and prevention of different diseases and conditions.
- 10.5 Derived from the best available evidence such as NICE guidance and other evidence sources accredited by NHS Evidence, they are developed independently by NICE, in collaboration with the NHS and social care professionals, their partners and service users, and address three dimensions of quality: clinical effectiveness, patient safety and patient experience.
- 10.6 This work is central to supporting the Government's vision for an NHS focussed on delivering the best possible outcomes for patients.
- 10.7 NICE Quality Standards have been published for
 - Stroke
 - Dementia
 - Venous thromboembolism (VTE) prevention
 - Specialist neonatal care
- 10.8 More NICE quality standards are in development and will be published during 2010/11.

NHS Constitution

10.9 The NHS Constitution sets out the principles and values that guide how the NHS should act and make decisions. All NHS organisations and other bodies supplying NHS services must have regard to the NHS Constitution, and providers will wish to take account of this when developing the content for their Quality Accounts.

Primary Care

10.10 We will encourage and facilitate primary care organisations to produce Quality Accounts in June for the current year. We will work with Quality Observatories and professional bodies to see how they can support primary care providers this year and in the future. At present, the intention is to make Quality Accounts a formal requirement from the following year (2011/12).

11Useful resources

Department of Health webpage on Quality Accounts

This provides an overview of the policy, is a portal for publication of the key documents relating to the development of Quality Accounts and answers some frequently asked questions. Documents referred to in this toolkit which fed into the development of the policy for Quality Accounts during 2009, such as the PricewaterhouseCoopers report on the evaluation of the testing exercise and the Ipsos MORI reports on their engagement both with NHS organisations and patients and the public, can be accessed on this page.

NHS Choices

2009-10 Quality Accounts are available to view on NHS Choices

http://www.nhs.uk/Pages/HomePage.aspx

Primary legislation: Health Act 2009

The Health Act 2009 creates the duty for all providers of NHS services to produce an annual Quality Account. www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2009/ukpga 20090021 en 1

Secondary legislation: Statutory Instrument

The secondary legislation (in the form of regulations) gives the detailed requirements relating to the form, content, publication and assurance of Quality Accounts. The regulations can be found under the title of: The National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010. <u>www.opsi.gov.uk/</u>

Response to consultation on the framework for Quality Accounts 2010

A consultation on the proposed framework for Quality Accounts in the first year of production ran between 17 September and 10 December 2009. The Department of Health published a response to this consultation in February 2010 and this can be viewed at: www.dh.gov.uk/en/Consultations/Responsestoconsultations/Responsestoconsultations/index.htm

Impact assessment (including equality impact assessment)

The impact assessment, including the equality impact assessment can be found alongside the response to the consultation.

www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Legislation/Regulatoryimpactassessment/DH 111 389

NHS Constitution

The NHS Constitution was published on 21 January 2009. It was one of a number of recommendations in Lord Darzi's report *High Quality Care for All*, published on the 60th anniversary of the NHS, which set out a ten-year plan to provide the highest quality of care and service for patients in England.

www.dh.gov.uk/en/Healthcare/NHSConstitution/index.htm

Foundation Trust Network Quality Accounts: Making the most of your Quality Accounts

Drawing on work in progress within member organisations and working in partnership with Tomorrow's Company to access learning and best practice from the world of business and commerce, the Foundation Trust Network has produced a guide for Foundation Trusts on developing Quality Accounts:

www.nhsconfed.org/Networks/FoundationTrust/Workstreams/Quality/Pages/Qualityaccounts.aspx

Quality reports produced by NHS Foundation Trusts

A selection of the quality reports produced by NHS Foundation Trusts can be found on the Monitor website at:

www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/home/our-publications/browse-category/guidance-foundation-trusts/quality-reports-and-accounts

Quality reports for other NHS Foundation Trusts in 2009 and for NHS providers in NHS East of England can be found on the individual organisations' websites.

12 Acknowledgements

Many thanks to all who have contributed to the design of this toolkit, by comment, contribution or case study.

The Department of Health would like to thank colleagues at Monitor, the Care Quality Commission, NHS East of England and the Audit Commission for their work to develop Quality Accounts through the Quality Accounts governance group. Equally, thank you to all organisations and individuals represented on the Quality Accounts stakeholder group whose efforts and contributions over the course of the past year have been much appreciated.

Many thanks to organisations who provided case studies for this toolkit.

Special thanks are extended to Sir Neil McKay for his role as chair of the Quality Accounts stakeholder group.

Annex A: Further guidance on the NHS (Quality Accounts)

Introduction

This guidance has been prepared by the Department of Health as a guide to what the regulations mean for providers required to publish a Quality Account and what they are legally obliged to do. It provides guidance only and it should be read in conjunction with the regulations themselves. It also provides guidance on how to meet the requirements set out in the regulations.

General obligation

There is a legal requirement under the Health Act 2009 for all people or bodies who provide, or arrange for others to provide (sub-contract), NHS services to produce a Quality Account from 1 April 2010. Details of the contents of the Quality Account, exemptions and process are set out in these regulations.

Subcontracted Services

A provider must include information on the quality of healthcare services it provides as well as any services it has subcontracted out to another organisation to provide unless the subcontractor is an NHS body (eg a PCT or NHS Trust) or has been commissioned by a PCT or SHA to provide other NHS healthcare services. If this is the case then it is the sub-contractor who should include a description of the quality of healthcare services that they have been sub-contracted to provide, alongside any other NHS services they provide. If the subcontractor makes further sub-contracting arrangements then the provider should include those sub-contracted services in their Quality Account – the obligation to provide a Quality Account does not extend beyond the subcontractor.

Citation, commencement and interpretation

This section explains that the regulations will come into force on 1 April 2010, along with the provisions relating to Quality Accounts in the Health Act. Key definitions are also provided:

- The definition of 'provider' is set out in the Health Act 2009 as the organisation or person required to publish a Quality Account. The 'provider' means all providers of NHS services in England including providers of health services provided jointly with another person and services provided under sub-contracting arrangements. It also includes private sector organisations contracted to provide NHS services.
- The 'relevant document' means a Quality Account containing information in relation to the reporting period set out in the Health Act 2009. The 'reporting period' is defined in the Health Act 2009. The first reporting period for Quality Accounts will be 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010, and subsequent reporting periods will run from 1 April to 31 March each year.

Regulation 2 – exemption for primary care services

This regulation exempts primary care services services from the obligation to publish information in a Quality Account. This means that in practice organisations which only provide these services will not have to produce a Quality Account. It will also mean that organisations who provide a mixture of acute care, primary care and community healthcare will not have to publish information relating to the quality of their primary care services. It is intended that the requirement to publish a Quality Account will be extended to cover primary care from April 2012 onwards and that this requirement will be reflected in later regulations.

Regulation 3 –exemption for small providers from the duty to publish information

This regulation exempts small providers from the legal requirement to publish a Quality Account. An organisation is defined as a small provider if it has a small number of staff (50 or fewer full-time (or full-time equivalent) employees) and its annual income from the provision of NHS services (not including those services that are exempt from the obligation to publish information in a Quality Account – i.e. primary care and community health) is relatively low (\pounds 130,000 or below).

The size of an organisation may fluctuate during the year. The regulation therefore sets out that the size of an organisation should be calculated on 1 April each year (or on the first day that NHS services are provided or sub-contracted for those organisations starting mid-way through the year).

The number of full-time equivalent employees is calculated by dividing the total number of hours worked by all employees on 1 April by the standard contracted hours for the organisation.

Annual income is to be measured by the actual income received during the financial year (i.e. as of 31 March). In order to prepare for the publication of a Quality Account which covers activity for the previous financial year, it is recommended that organisations use their projected contractual income to assess at the start of the year whether they are likely to meet the definition of small provider.

Regulation 4 – Prescribed information, content and form of document

This regulation sets out what information should be provided in a Quality Account and in what format. The Quality Account should be set out in three parts:

- Part 1 containing a written statement summarising the provider's view of the quality of NHS healthcare services they have provided. This statement should be signed by the responsible person for the provider (see Regulation 6 – Signature by senior employee);
- Part 2 containing the nationally mandated information that is set out as a series of statements listed in the schedule attached to the regulations (further guidance on the statements is provided below); and
- Part 3 containing information chosen by the provider to demonstrate the quality of NHS healthcare services provided.

The schedule attached to the regulations for Quality Accounts sets out, in column 1, a description of the data to be included in the statement (prescribed information) and, in column 2, the format in which you should write the statement (form of statement). A provider should complete the statement that is relevant to their organisation (two options are given for each statement). The completed statements should be included in Part 2 of the Quality Account.

Regulation 5 – Written statements by other bodies

This regulation sets out the requirement for a Quality Account to include any written statements sent to the provider from the appropriate commissioning primary care trust (PCT), Local Involvement Network (LINk) and/or Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) in relation to their view of the provider's Quality Account. Each statement should be no longer than 500 words (this will be increased to 1000 words). The Quality Account should also include an explanation of any changes made to the final version of the Quality Account that were made subsequent to (and possibly as a result of) the statements being provided.

Regulation 6 – Signature by senior employee

This regulation sets out the requirement for a senior employee (for example, the Chief Executive) of an organisation to sign a written statement (Part 1), thus declaring their accountability for the content of the Quality Account.

Regulation 7 – Priorities for improvement

This regulation sets out additional information that should be included in a Quality Account. Providers should include a section which confirms that the organisation has identified key areas for improvement and has in place plans to monitor and report on progress. This section should include:

- at least three priorities for improvement and how they were identified;
- report progress from previous priorties;
- how progress to achieving priorities will be monitored and measured by the provider; and
- how and when this progress will be reported back to others in the future.

Regulation 8 – Document assurance by commissioning primary care trust

This regulation sets out the legal requirements for both providers of NHS services and their commissioning PCTs or strategic health authority (SHAs). It sets out:

- the requirement for a provider to send a copy of their Quality Account to their commissioning PCT or SHA within 30 days beginning with 1 April at the end of the reporting period (i.e. by 30 April each year);
- the requirement for a commissioning PCT or SHA to check the accuracy of the information contained in the provider's Quality Account in relation to the services provided to it; and

 the requirement for the commissioning PCT or SHA to then provide a written statement (maximum 1000 words) for publication in the provider's Quality Account. The statement should confirm whether or not they consider the provider's Quality Account to contain accurate information and include any other comments they consider relevant – for instance, whether or not they believe it is a balanced report of the quality of healthcare services provided. This statement should be returned to the provider within 30 days of receipt.

The provider should send their Quality Account to one commissioning PCT (or SHA if the provider is a PCT or is not commissioned by a PCT). Where a provider has more than one commissioning PCT, they should send their Quality Account to the coordinating commissioning PCT.

Where the provider provides services to more than one coordinating commissioning PCT, they should send their Quality Account to the coordinating commissioning PCT in the SHA area in which the provider is located.

Where the provider provides services to more than one coordinating commissioning PCT in the SHA area in which it is located, they should send their Quality Account to the coordinating commissioning PCT which is responsible for the largest number of patients that the provider has provided NHS services to during the reporting period.

Where there is no coordinating commissioning PCT, they should send their Quality Account to the commissioning PCT which is responsible for the largest number of patients that the provider has provided NHS services to during the reporting period.

Where a provider is commissioned by more than one SHA (and no PCT), they should send their Quality Account to the SHA which is responsible for the largest number of patients that the provider has provided NHS services to during the reporting period.

Regulation 9 – Document assurance by appropriate Local Involvement Network

This regulation sets out the requirement for a provider to send a copy of their Quality Account to their appropriate LINk within 30 days beginning with 1 April at the end of the reporting period (i.e. by 30 April each year).

To fulfil this obligation, the provider should send their Quality Account to the LINk or LINks in the local authority area in which the provider's principal office is located. The method of communication (post, email etc) is not specified in the regulation and should be left to local determination.

Regulation 10 – Document assurance by appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

This regulation sets out the requirement for a **provider** to send a copy of their Quality Account to their appropriate OSC within 30 days beginning with 1 April at the end of the reporting period (i.e. by 30 April each year).

To fufil this obligation, the provider should send their Quality Account to the OSC in the local authority area in which the provider's principal office is located. The method of communication (post, email etc) is not specified in the regulation and should be left to local determination.

Regulation 11 – Publication and provision of copies

This regulation sets out the requirement for a provider to publish their Quality Account by making it available on NHS Choices or another website if NHS Choices is not available to the provider (for example, the organisation's own website or another website specified by the Department of Health). The provider is also required to send a copy of the report to the Secretary of State. A report should be sent to the Secretary of State by emailing the document or a link to the document, with details of whether/where the report is published on NHS Choices/the provider's own website, to <u>qualityaccounts@dh.gsi.gov.uk</u>

Both actions should be completed by 30 June each year. Providers will be able to upload their Quality Account to NHS Choices from 1 April each year. For those providers unable to upload their Quality Account on to their organisation's pages on NHS Choices, they should send a copy to [uploadQualityAccount@dh.gsi.gov.uk].(the obligation will still fall on the provider to ensure it is made available on a website by 30 June).

Changes to Regulations for 2010-11 - Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from the Board (in regulations)

We do not intend to make significant changes to the Regulations this year, as we are keen to build on your experience of producing Quality Accounts last year and to allow you to respond to the evaluations findings in a flexible way. However, providers will note that a small number of changes to the mandated sections have been made for this year. The changes are detailed below to add clarity.

The Regulations will be amended to reflect these changes.

Priorities for improvement

Mandating providers to report on success of improvement priorities in subsequent years and to demonstrate how the priorities are linked to their review of services.

Clinical Audit

Updated guidance, no changes to regulation.

Clinical Research

Updated guidance, no changes to regulation.

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework

Amend the statement to ensure that CQUIN schemes can be made available to interested parties through a web link.

CQC

The current Regulations will need amending to reflect the new regulatory model, including the discontinuation of periodic review for NHS providers.

Data Quality

A statement on actions taken to improve data quality has been added and the statement on Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels has been amended.

Annex B: Glossary

Acute trust

A trust is an NHS organisation responsible for providing a group of healthcare services. An acute trust provides hospital services (but not mental health hospital services, which are provided by a mental health trust).

Ambulance trusts

There are currently 12 ambulance services covering England, providing emergency access to healthcare. The NHS is also responsible for providing transport to get many patients to hospital for treatment. In many areas it is the ambulance trust that provides this service.

Association of Public Health Observatories

The Association of Public Health Observatories (APHO) represents a network of 12 public health observatories (PHOs) working across the five nations of England, Scotland, Wales, Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland. They produce information, data and intelligence on people's health and health care for practitioners, policy makers and the wider community. http://www.apho.org.uk

Audit Commission

The Audit Commission regulates the proper control of public finances by local authorities and the NHS in England and Wales. The Commission audits NHS trusts, primary care trusts and strategic health authorities to review the quality of their financial systems. It also publishes independent reports which highlight risks and good practice to improve the quality of financial management in the health service, and, working with the Care Quality Commission, undertakes national value-for-money studies. Visit: www.audit-commission.gov.uk/Pages/default.aspx

Board (of trust)

The role of the trust's board is to take corporate responsibility for the organisation's strategies and actions. The chair and non-executive directors are lay people drawn from the local community and are accountable to the Secretary of State. The chief executive is responsible for ensuring that the Board is empowered to govern the organisation and to deliver its objectives.

Care Quality Commission

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) replaced the Healthcare Commission, Mental Health Act Commission and the Commission for Social Care Inspection in April 2009. The CQC is the independent regulator of health and social care in England. It regulates health and adult social care services, whether provided by the NHS, local authorities, private companies or voluntary organisations. Visit: www.cqc.org.uk

Clinical audit

Clinical audit measures the quality of care and services against agreed standards and suggests or makes improvements where necessary.

Commissioners

Commissioners are responsible for ensuring adequate services are available for their local population by assessing needs and purchasing services. Primary care trusts are the key organisations responsible for commissioning healthcare services for their area. They commission services (including acute care, primary care and mental healthcare) for the whole of their population, with a view to improving their population's health.

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation

High Quality Care for All included a commitment to make a proportion of providers' income conditional on quality and innovation, through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework. Visit:

www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_091443

Community services

Health services provided in the community, for example health visiting, school nursing and podiatry (footcare).

Department of Health

The Department of Health is a department of the UK government but with responsibility for government policy for England alone on health, social care and the NHS.

Foundation Trust

A type of NHS trust in England that has been created to devolve decision-making from central government control to local organisations and communities so they are more responsive to the needs and wishes of their local people. NHS Foundation Trusts provide and develop healthcare according to core NHS principles – free care, based on need and not on ability to pay. NHS Foundation Trusts have members drawn from patients, the public and staff, and are governed by a board of governors comprising people elected from and by the membership base.

Health Act

An Act of Parliament is a law, enforced in all areas of the UK where it is applicable. The Health Act 2009 received Royal Assent on 12 November 2009.

Healthcare

Healthcare includes all forms of healthcare provided for individuals, whether relating to physical or mental health, and includes procedures that are similar to forms of medical or surgical care but are not provided in connection with a medical condition, for example cosmetic surgery.

Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership

The Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership was established in April 2008 to promote quality in healthcare, and in particular to increase the impact that clinical audit has on healthcare quality in England and Wales. It is led by a consortium of the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges, the Royal College of Nursing and National Voices.

Hospital Episode Statistics

Hospital Episode Statistics is the national statistical data warehouse for England of the care provided by NHS hospitals and for NHS hospital patients treated elsewhere.

Indicators for Quality Improvement

The Indicators for Quality Improvement (IQI) are a resource for local clinical teams providing a set of robust indicators which could be used for local guality improvement and as a source of indicators for local benchmarking. The IQI can be found on the NHS Information Centre website at: www.ic.nhs.uk/services/ measuring-for-quality-improvement

Learning disability trusts

Learning disability trusts provide a range of healthcare and social support services for people who have learning disabilities and other long-term complex care needs.

Local Involvement Networks

Local Involvement Networks (LINks) are made up of individuals and community groups which work together to improve local services. Their job is to find out what the public like and dislike about local health and social care. They will then work with the people who plan and run these services to improve them. This may involve talking directly to healthcare professionals about a service that is not being offered or suggesting ways in which an existing service could be made better. LINks also have powers to help with the tasks and to make sure changes happen.

Mental health trusts

There are currently 60 mental health trusts covering England, which provide health and social care services for people with mental health problems.

Monitor

The independent regulator responsible for authorising, monitoring and regulating NHS Foundation Trusts.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence

The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence is an independent organisation responsible for providing national guidance on promoting good health and preventing and treating ill health. Visit: www.nice.org.uk

National Patient Safety Agency

The National Patient Safety Agency is an arm's-length body of the Department of Health, responsible for promoting patient safety wherever the NHS provides care. Visit: www.npsa.nhs.uk

National patient surveys

The National Patient Survey Programme, coordinated by the Care Quality Commission, gathers feedback from patients on different aspects of their experience of recently received care, across a variety of services/settings. Visit:

www.cqc.org.uk/usingcareservices/healthcare/patientsurveys.cfm

National Research Ethics Service

The National Research Ethics Service is part of the National Patient Safety Agency. It provides a robust ethical review of clinical trials to protect the safety, dignity and well-being of research participants as well as ensure through the delivery of a professional service that it is also able to promote and facilitate ethical research within the NHS.

NHS Choices

The first port of call for the public for all information on the NHS.

NHS East of England

NHS East of England is the strategic health authority for the east of England, covering Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Essex, Hertfordshire, Norfolk and Suffolk. NHS East of England is the regional headquarters of the NHS, and provides strategic leadership for all NHS organisations across the six counties.

NHS Information Centre

The NHS Information Centre are England's central, authoritative source of health and social care information. Acting as a 'hub' for high quality, national, comparative data for all secondary uses, they deliver information for local decision makers to improve the quality and efficiency of frontline care. www.ic.nhs.uk

Overview and scrutiny committees

Since January 2003, every local authority with responsibilities for social services (150 in all) have had the power to scrutinise local health services. Overview and scrutiny committees take on the role of scrutiny of the NHS – not just major changes but the ongoing operation and planning of services. They bring democratic accountability into healthcare decisions and make the NHS more publicly accountable and responsive to local communities.

Pacesetters programme

The Department of Health funded Pacesetters programme is a transformational change programme in which the Department supports strategic health authorities and NHS trusts to work with their local communities, to reduce health inequalities arising out of discrimination and disadvantage for both patients and staff. Pacesetters is the only Department of Health equality programme that works across all equality strands, and additionally focuses on innovation in the field of equality and diversity. The programme tests innovations and identifies good practice and learning in order to share, spread and sustain them throughout the NHS – to make a permanent positive difference to people and communities.

Primary care trust

A primary care trust is an NHS organisation responsible for improving the health of local people, developing services provided by local GPs and their teams (called primary care) and making sure that other appropriate health services are in place to meet local people's needs.

Providers

Providers are the organisations that provide NHS services, for example NHS trusts and their private or voluntary sector equivalents.

Quality reports

Monitor and NHS East of England required all NHS Foundation Trusts in England and all NHS providers in the East of England region to produce Quality Reports in spring/summer 2009. The term quality report has been used to distinguish it as part of the testing process, in comparison to a Quality Account, for which there is a legal requirement.

Registration

From April 2009, every NHS trust that provides healthcare directly to patients must be registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC).

Regulations

Regulations are a type of secondary legislation made by an executive authority under powers given to them by primary legislation in order to implement and administer the requirements of that primary legislation.

Research

Clinical research and clinical trials are an everyday part of the NHS. The people who do research are mostly the same doctors and other health professionals who treat people. A clinical trial is a particular type of research that tests one treatment against another. It may involve either patients or people in good health, or both.

Secondary Uses Service

The Secondary Uses Service is designed to provide anonymous patient-based data for purposes other than direct clinical care such as healthcare planning, commissioning, public health, clinical audit and governance, benchmarking, performance improvement, medical research and national policy development. Visit: <u>www.ic.nhs.uk/services/the-secondary-uses-service-sus/using-this-service/data-quality-dashboards</u>

Special review

A special review is a review carried out by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). Special reviews and studies are projects that look at themes in health and social care. They focus on services, pathways of care or groups of people. A review will usually result in assessments by the CQC of local health and social care organisations. A study will usually result in national-level findings based on the CQC's research. Visit:

www.cqc.org.uk/guidanceforprofessionals/healthcare/nhsstaff/specialreviews/specialreviewsan dstudies2009/10.cfm

Department of Health. © Crown copyright 2010 First published December 2010 Published to DH website, in electronic PDF format only. www.dh.gov.uk/publications